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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

NAERINEEHHA
Compliance Advisor SRR
Lego Corporate Finance Limited NetxRESREAT
Registered Office ISR

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
8/F, Tower 1, The Quayside

77 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong
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PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
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Hong Kong

With effect form 31 March 2025, the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office will be changed to
Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

Principal Bankers
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited

Key Dates
Annual Results Announcement 27 March 2025
Final Dividend HK2.5 cents per share
— Latest time to lodge 30 May 2025
transfers (before 4:30 p.m.)

2-3 June 2025
(both days inclusive)

— Book Close Dates

— Record Date 3 June 2025
— Payment Date 18 June 2025
2025 Annual General Meeting 22 May 2025
— Latest time to lodge 16 May 2025

transfers (before 4:30 p.m.)
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RESULTS SUMMARY
RARNER

The board of directors (“Board” or “Directors”) of New
Media Lab Limited (“Company”) presents the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024 (“Year”).

Total revenue
R
Digital advertising
HiFES
Print advertising and circulation
EDfRIEEERZE1T
Net profit
2D
Basic earnings per share
FRERNEAN
Final dividend per share
BRAHRR
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FBETEERAT ((RAR]) CES
(BB /YN (ES))E2EARLT
RENBATG (FE [AER]) &2
2024F12R3NBIEEE ([KEE))
CIREBRIREEE °

For the year ended
31 December

BZ12A318LLEFE
| 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
Fi&T FBT
207,227 220,885
199,290 211,534
7,937 9,351
13,491 14,525

HK2.2 centsi&fll HK2.8 cents )&l

HK2.5 centsi&fll HK1.2 cents &/l




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mAAT

RESULTS

Due to the weak market sentiment, the Group’s total
revenue inevitably decreased to HK$207.2 million (2023:
HK$220.9 million) during the Year. Revenue from digital
advertising was HK$199.3 million (2023: HK$211.5 million)
and remained a key revenue contributor, accounting for
96.2% (2023: 95.8%) of the Group’s total revenue. The
Group’s net profit was HK$13.5 million (2023: HK$14.5
million). The basic earnings per share was HK2.2 cents
(2023: HK2.8 cents’). The Group has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK2.50 cents per share.
Together with the interim dividend of HK1.67 cents per
share, the total dividends for the full year are HK4.17 cents
per share.

MARKET REVIEW

During the Year, market uncertainties arising from factors
such as geopolitical tensions, global monetary policy and
the pace of the United States interest rate cuts continued
to impact the local business environment. The changes
in the consumption patterns of Hong Kong’s inbound
visitors and domestic consumers, and the relatively strong
Hong Kong dollar continued to pose challenges to the
local consumption market. Advertisers in various sectors
generally experienced a tough business cycle. They tended
to remain cautious regarding their advertising spending,
and sought tailor-made, cost-effective marketing
campaigns. Hence, the media business became fiercely
competitive.

! Please refer to note 12 on pages 124-125 for the number of
shares used for calculation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE@simhk A

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a digital media flagship group, providing
one-stop integrated advertising solutions to brand owners
and advertising agencies through several digital media
platforms. The shares of the Company have been listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 17 July 2023 (“Listing
Date”).

The Group has established its online business since
2011, and currently operates 9 media brands, including
“Weekend Weekly”, “Oriental Sunday”, “Economic
Digest”, “New Monday”’, “More”, “GOtrip”, “Sunday Kiss”,
“SSwagger” and “Madame Figaro”. Each brand has
its dedicated content pillars covering dining and local
attractions, gourmet and gastronomy, fashion and beauty,
travel, wellness and entertainment, kids and parenting,
electronic gadgets and gaming, finance and investment, as
well as designer and luxury labels. The target positions of
each media brand are as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIREsIRN I

“Weekend Weekly” — Specialises in providing lifestyle
content ranging from topical dining trends and discoveries
around town to best dining and shopping offers, tips and
recommendations, to meet the demands of people from all
walks of life.

[FTERA) — SPREHERFEHEEEEONS - B TBNEEM -
PWHBHMERENSENESR L TREN  IREASRDALH

=Ko

“Oriental Sunday” — A comprehensive wellness and
entertainment information platform providing health ;__,
and wellness tips from specialists of various medical
fields, practical household consumption advice and latest pFEESaswdE
entertainment and celebrity news. —
(R — R—EL2ENRERRLEN VO @ RHKESRES
HHERNVRERRELEWS BERNREHEBRS UREHR
YRBNFE -

“Economic Digest” — Provides the latest information on
economics, investment, financial markets and personal
finance, with the major target audience comprising
professional investors, white collars and general public who
follow investment and financial markets.

[AEB—i] — RHEELE B8  TRHBREANBYNGEHE
A FTZERSRRERELERTHMOBNEEXELRES BBEAT
R—RNR -

“New Monday” — Provides content on the latest social trends,
covering topics such as online shopping, online games,
electronic gadgets, sports trend, fashion, entertainment news
and beauty tips.

[#fMonday | — RHFEHNMZARAS - WER LEY IR LB
Bl BEFER EPA - L REeTBERESHISERE-

FGalaxySIS AR ILF AR Books T M ERTR

“More” — Targets a female audience with coverage of topics
including fashion, skincare, makeup, nutritious menus for
healthy diets and wedding planning. A
[More] — BERR/RUMSR - MELTEADBRIEE  EE i &2 !

PARSTREE BFSIEARTOIE RS
HREHIEM2024 | 13K

BN XK= S5RES G e 2 = ERE G $225 PR
RABCEBEERERRE - oo
ms SP19 s ]
%
8 &
15X MM : SHMCHANEL - CELINEISM - RS SIOAFEM! EMarshall-|
8 2 i WA mmansmmon|wiwmaw.s Emanssx
Fsseor® | sRCHA
I
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SRR E NG

“GOtrip” — Provides comprehensive travel information
and suggested itineraries ranging from local excursions,
staycation to global destinations.

[Gotrip| — RHEENRBEMNRTERZ - BEANMIERDE « &
= E fﬁiﬁﬁ SBEU o %T:;:::“...,m..,.“

“Sunday Kiss” — Targets young parents with coverage of the
latest trends in child-care, parenting and education, as well as
shopping tips.

[Sunday Kiss#RFE8 | — DITERREE  MEER - HFR E O oGk
HEORMERNENRBEMEL - pe==-| < B

FE02WWEN 5
TR TEEE

“SSwagger’” — Targets GenZ community with content
coverage of active and sustainable lifestyle, music and dance,
as well as art and creative design trends.

[SSwagger| — DIZEHARMEHRBEER  ABSHEBREIFBENE
BAT SRR UREBMABIRFRETER -

“Madame Figaro” — An upmarket, prestigious platform
covering fashion and beauty, aiming to capture the luxury
market.

[Madame Figaro] — R—EHRERERESNSHMESEREN
s SERBhERRME -

BB EHMAT BRENEE TAREE ?
o nsom
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mAAT

Strong Market Presence with Extensive
Coverage

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 9 media brands,
covering 9 websites, 10 fanpages on Facebook, 10 profiles
on Instagram and 3 profiles on RedNote. The Group has
a strong digital presence with millions of subscribers
who follow its contents on the websites, mobile apps
and third-party social media platforms. This social media
engagement creates an ideal platform for advertisers to
communicate with and collect feedback from their current
and potential consumers and broaden their reach.

Subsequent to the Year, the Group received several
accolades in the 9th Media Convergence Awards,
organised by Hong Kong Association of Interactive
Marketing, in recognition of its efforts and excellence in
using technology to transform and innovate in the delivery
of news and information. “Economic Digest” received four
awards, namely “Overall — Gold Award” and “Social Media
— Gold Award”, “Mobile Applications — Gold Award”
and “Website — Silver Award”, all under the Magazine
category. “Weekend Weekly” received three awards,
namely “Social Media — Silver Award” and “Overall —
Bronze Award” under the Online Media category, as well
as the “Overall Lifestyle and Leisure Information Award”.
“New Monday” received “Overall Lifestyle and Leisure

Information Award”.

MANHBERNRRZNES

BHXE2024F128318 A&£E
BoOBEREERE - u%9@jﬁ
108 Facebook# #EHE  10@
Instagramﬁ%%“%&ﬂ@ﬂ\ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁf’%
REFREIFTHBENRA - EIS -
MEBERRARB=DIHNREEES
BEOBRIRETEEEART - %5t
RSN RESHAE—EERN
e DUEHEBRIRBEBEETER
WINEERBMURIBEXEIEEEE
%333

RAFTER AEBESEBOHMH
BEEPCENBERBI RO
EYERE  EHEBEANmET
RUBIFONBEFEREN BN
WS HUFKIR o [4FBH—F | REH
B NOERIE DRI [EE —
BR] (MR EE — 8] (A
B — SRIRMBIO — RIE) o [/
B SE=BRE DA HBER
BINIMAKEE — R R [2E —

R I DR [ BEEEEEEARE] -
[#Monday | 55 E [BELTEBEE
SARER] o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE@simhk A

Broad Range of Advertising Products and
Services

The Group offers a wide spectrum of advertising products
and integrated services on various media platforms
including display banners, advertorials and reviews and
social newsfeeds, along with creative production and
strategic services such as search engine optimisation
(SEO) and segment marketing. The Group has an in-house
platform team dedicated to analysing audience behaviour
on the Group’s media platforms via analytic tools for
gaining insights into the behaviour and preferences of
target audiences.

Well-established Relationships with Clients
Across Different Industries

The Group has been engaged in the media industry
in Hong Kong for over 20 years and is renowned for
its popular flagship media brands including “Oriental
Sunday”’, “Weekend Weekly”, “New Monday” and
“Economic Digest”. With a long history in the advertising
business in the print media and an early entry into the
digital marketing business, the Group has established
an extensive client network. The Group’s diverse client
portfolio ranges from 4A’s and non-4A’s advertising
agencies, multinational corporations and brand owners
to small and medium-sized enterprises, covering a large
variety of business sectors.

PROSPECTS

In the face of changing consumption patterns and an
unstable market situation, the Group expects that overall
advertising expenditure of advertisers will remain tight.
Advertisers are altering their advertising strategies and
promotional channels. The Group will promptly react
to market changes and take appropriate measures to
improve its overall operating efficiency. The Group will
continue devoting resources by adding digital platform
talents, innovations and technologies, to meet the rising
demand for digital advertising solutions and further
expand its market presence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mAAT

Nevertheless, considering the pick-up in foot traffic
after the resumption of the multiple-entry Individual
Visit Scheme for Shenzhen permanent residents, and the
increase of disposable income after several United States
interest rate cuts in the past six months, as well as the
numerous stimulus measures launched by the Central
Government and local government, the Group remains
positive regarding capturing the opportunities from the
market momentum revival, and is confident regarding
the long-term growth prospects of online advertising
solutions.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial
Resources

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 December
2024 amounted to HK$150.0 million (2023: HK$142.7
million), and were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have any bank borrowings (2023: Nil). Its gearing ratio
(calculated on the basic of the total debts over total
equity) was 1.0% (2023: 0.4%). The strong liquidity
position enables the Group to retain high flexibility for
future development.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current assets and
current liabilities were approximately HK$213.1 million
(2023: HK$212.7 million) and HK$38.7 million (2023:
HK$36.2 million), respectively. Current ratio and quick
ratio of the Group were 5.5 (2023: 5.9) and 5.5 (2023: 5.9),
respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December
2024, the Board considered that the Group had sufficient
working capital for its operations and future development
plans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EiREsmaSTh

Initial Public Offering and Use of Proceeds BRVAABERFISMIARAE
The Company has been successfully listed on the Main AR TIER EMB BMEBLZA T
Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date, and #RAIH M- EEHNEREFEL
raised net proceeds of approximately HK$103.5 million. 103,500,000 8 7T ° & &£ 2024 & 12
The actual use of the net proceeds up to 31 December H318 @ IEREBENEREHIB

2024 is set out below: ST
Actual use of Expected
net proceeds  Unutilised net timetable for
Approximate Allocation of upto  proceeds as of use of the
percentage of use of net 31 December 31 December unutilised net
net proceeds proceeds 2024 2024 proceeds
REE KEE
2024F12A318 2024%12A318 fERREM
FiRRRPERL FRMERR FMEMASEL XBAZFE R AC) T
ROEHtt R AE BR{ER R RHRAR
(HKS mill (HK$ milli '

Expand and enhance product lines and 44.5% 46.0 10.3 35.7 By 31 December 2025
enhance data collection and analytical 2025128318 2H
capabilities

EERNBERRY  URRSTRNER
ATEN

Mergers and acquisitions and/or strategic 26.3% 272 Nil 27.2 By 31 December 2025
alliances with other media or & 2025128318 A

e-Commerce market players
BHMERIEIBENGNEEOHR
WER /AR REHER

Construct in-house media content 12.5% 13.0 19 1.1 By 31 December 2025
management platform 2025128318 A
BRI REATERTE

=

General working capital 9.9% 10.2 10.2 Nil N/A
-REEES & ENELE
Repay bank borrowings 6.8% 71 71 Nil N/A
EBRBTER i NGl
Total 100% 103.5 29.5 74.0

The unutilised net proceeds are held by way of bank FEBAERIEFLELURTERED
deposits with licensed banks or authorised financial HBRREBFEEITNR T E R
institutions in Hong Kong. B e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mAAT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 219 (2023:
232) employees. Total staff costs including Director’s
remuneration and the other staff costs for the Year
were approximately HK$103.4 million (2023: HK$100.9
million). Each employee’s remuneration was determined
in accordance with the individual’s responsibility,
competence and skills, experience and performance as
well as market pay levels. Staff benefits include medical
insurance, retirement benefits and other competitive
fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to staff, the Company
adopted a share option scheme on 26 June 2023, which
became effective on the Listing Date, particulars of which
is set out in the section headed “Share Options” of this
annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEBABZER

Executive Director and Chairman

WONG CHI FAI, aged 69, an Executive Director of the
Company and the Chairman of the Board. He is also the
Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong joined the Group in June 1999 and is responsible
for overseeing the financial management and advising on
the business strategic planning and development of the
Group. He has over 30 years of finance and management
experience in different businesses ranging from media and
publication, property investment and development, hotel
and hospitality, watch and jewellery retailing, financial and
securities services, wholesaling and retailing of furniture,
cinema development and operation to entertainment
production and investment as well as artiste management.
He is a director of Emperor International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor International”), Emperor
Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor
E Hotel”), Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock
Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”), Emperor Culture Group
Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), Emperor
Capital Group Limited (Stock Code: 717) (“Emperor
Capital Group”) and Ulferts International Limited (Stock
Code: 1711) (“Ulferts”), all being listed members of
Emperor Group. Mr. Wong is a Certified Public Accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Note: With effect from 1 April 2025, Mr. Yeung Ching Loong,
Alexander will be appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and an Executive Director as well as the Chairman of the
Executive Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company in place of Mr. Wong Chi Fai
following Mr. Wong’s retirement. Details of the changes
was set out in the announcement of the Company dated 3
February 2025. He will also retire from all positions of the
listed members of Emperor Group with effect from 1 April
2025.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFENSREIEZABZERE

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
LEE YAT PUI, ROYCE, aged 55, an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
of the Group. Mr. Lee joined the Group as consultant
in October 2016 and has been the CEO since January
2017. He was appointed as a Director in March 2021 and
is responsible for overall management of the Group and
planning the Group’s business and strategies. Mr. Lee
is also a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He has over 20 years of experience in
marketing and brand management, and specialised in
digital marketing. Mr. Lee had worked in Nestlé China
Limited and Coca-Cola China Limited and was responsible
for marketing. He subsequently took up directorship in a
digital marketing company. Prior to joining the Group, he
ventured into e-learning and founded a company aiming to
apply digital technology to facilitate learning. He is also a
director of Double Blossoms Limited (“Double Blossoms”),
which is a company disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities”
on page 21 of this annual report. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor
of Science and a Degree of Master in Philosophy from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 62, an Executive
Director of the Company, the Chairperson of the
Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the
Executive Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. She joined the Group in June 1999
and is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate
management and advising on the business strategies
of the Group. Ms. Fan has over 35 years of corporate
management experience in diversified businesses ranging
from media and publication, property investment and
development, hotel and hospitality, watch and jewellery
retailing, financial and securities services, wholesaling and
retailing of furniture, cinema development and operation
to entertainment production and investment as well as
artiste management. She is currently a director of Emperor
International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor
Culture, Emperor Capital Group and Ulferts, all being
listed members of Emperor Group. Ms. Fan is a lawyer by
profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEBABZER

Independent Non-executive Director

CHENG KA YU, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2023.
She is also the Chairperson of the Nomination Committee
as well as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Ms. Cheng was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in
1998 and is now a partner of P. C. Woo & Co, a solicitors
firm. She was an independent non-executive director of
Emperor International from 2012 to 2021. She holds a
Bachelor of Laws Degree from The University of Hong
Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

MAK KAM CHIU, aged 48, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in June 2023. He is also the Chairman of the Audit
Committee as well as a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. Mak has over 20 years of experience in
financial management and internal audit. He has served as
finance director and/or held management positions with
various multinational corporations engaging in retailing
and/or food and beverage industry. Mr. Mak is currently
the finance director of Skechers Hong Kong Limited.
He is also an independent non-executive director of LH
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1978). He holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration in Accountancy from the
City University of Hong Kong and a Degree of Master
of Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Mak is a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in Hong Kong and
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFENSREIEZABZERE

Independent Non-executive Director

NIU ZHONGJIE, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2023. He is
also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well
as a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Niu has worked with
various financial institutions and has extensive experience
in equity capital markets. He is currently the responsible
officer for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities of Vision Finance Asset
Management Limited. He is also a director of Vision Finance
International Company Limited and the responsible officer
of the company to carry on type 1 (dealing in securities)
and type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities. Mr. Niu is currently an independent non-executive
director of Peiport Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2885),
Smart Digital Technology Group Limited (formerly known
as Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited) (Stock
Code: 1159) and Qian Xun Technology Limited (formerly
known as Ruicheng (China) Media Group Limited) (Stock
Code: 1640). He was an independent non-executive director
of Nanjing Sample Technology Company Limited (Stock
Code: 1708) from May 2019 to May 2024, all being listed
companies in Hong Kong. He holds a Bachelor of Arts in
Business Administration from Northeast Missouri State
University, Missouri USA and a Degree of Master of Business
Administration from The University of Hong Kong.

Chief Operation Officer

CHEUNG WAI YU, aged 50, the Chief Operating Officer of
the Group. Ms. Cheung joined the Group in October 2018
and is responsible for overseeing and guiding the day-to-
day operations of the Group, and presides over the revenue
and sales growth, expenses, costs and margin control, and
monthly, quarterly and annual financial goal management
of the Group. She has over 19 years of experience in
overseeing finance and operation of media and advertising
companies. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Chief Information Officer

YEUNG MAN LEUNG, aged 48, the Chief Information
Officer of the Group. Mr. Yeung joined the Group in July
2018 and is responsible for driving digitalisation in the
Group from in-house operation to users’ digital experience
through leading the technical and project team. Mr. Yeung
has over 25 years of experience in ICT industry including
software engineering, web business development and
mobile application development, operation and marketing.
Mr. Yeung holds a Bachelor of Engineering in Computer
Science from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEWRSE

The Directors present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

SHARE OFFER

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
22 March 2021 with limited liability. The Company’s shares
have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since the Listing Date.

Details of use of net proceeds are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 12 of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in digital media, which
include providing one-stop integrated advertising
solutions to brand owners and advertising agencies
through several digital media platforms. Details of the
principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 62 to 63 of this annual
report. The dividends paid and proposed to be paid for
the Year are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An interim dividend of HK1.67 cents (2023: HK$500) per
share for the Year amounting to approximately HK$10
million (2023: HK$10 million), was paid to the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”) during the Year.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK2.5 cents (2023: HK1.2 cents) per share for
the Year, amounting to approximately HK$15 million (2023:
HK$7.2 million) to Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members on 3 June 2025 (Tuesday),
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 22 May
2025 (Thursday) (“2025 AGM”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESERS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year and
an analysis of the likely future development of the Group’s
business are set out in the Management Discussion
and Analysis from pages 6 to 11 of this annual report.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
from pages 48 to 50 and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had
occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of this
annual report.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during
the Year using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Five-Year Financial Summary on page
156. Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, key relationships with the Group’s key
stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have significant impact on the
Company are set out in the 2024 Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
156 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 65 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable
reserves calculated in accordance with the Cayman
Companies Act included share premium accounts
and other reserves, totaling HK$160,836,000 (2023:
HK$130,632,000), of which HK$15,000,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEWRSE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles of
Association”), or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
36% (2023: 39%) and 11% (2023: 13%) respectively of the
Group’s total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 54% (2023: 57%)
and 46% (2023: 48%) respectively of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or
Shareholder (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu

Mr. Mak Kam Chiu

Mr. Niu Zhongjie

Note:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 3 February
2025, with effect from 1 April 2025, Mr. Yeung Ching Loong,
Alexander (“Mr . Alex Yeung”) will be appointed as the Chairman
of the Board and an Executive Director in place of Mr. Wong Chi
Fai following Mr. Wong’s retirement.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESERS

Biographical details of the Directors and senior
management as at the date of this annual report are
set out from pages 14 to 17 of this annual report. Details
of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 83(3) and 84(1) and (2) of
the Articles of Association, Mr. Alex Yeung, Ms. Fan Man
Seung, Vanessa (“Ms. Vanessa Fan”) and Mr. Niu Zhongjie
shall retire at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, shall offer
themselves for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election
at the 2025 AGM has an unexpired service contract with
the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Group’s business were
entered into or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has in force the permitted indemnity
provisions which are provided for in the Articles of
Association and in the directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of
the Group respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company
(“Chief Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) adopted by the Company were
as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

(A) Long position interests in the Company
Ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each

(AYREARNBZEFEER
FREE 0.0 B0 XN GEBE
R ([BR#))

(“Shares”)
Capacity/
Name of Director Nature of interests
ESNR =0 0 1k
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce Interest in a controlled
(“Mr. Royce Lee”) corporation (Note)
—BhaE ([FEE)) R EE R (MEt)
Note:

Mr. Royce Lee legally and beneficially owned the entire
issued share capital of Double Blossoms. He was deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares held by Double
Blossoms.

(B) Long position interests in associated
corporation of the Company
Ordinary shares

Name of associated Capacity/

Name of Director corporation Nature of interests

ESiL BEZEZR a8/ EnnE

Ms. Vanessa Fan Emperor International  Beneficial Owner

eat REDAR EREBA
Emperor E Hotel Beneficial Owner
HERLBSE EnBBA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors or Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESERS

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 26 June 2023 (effective on the
Listing Date). Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report. No option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since
its effective date.

The number of share options available for grant under the
scheme mandate as at both the beginning and the end of
the Year, was 60,000,000, which represented 10% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at
the end of the Year and at no time during the Year was
the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or Chief Executives or their spouses
or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or Chief Executives, as
at 31 December 2024, the persons or corporations (other
than Directors or Chief Executives) who had, or were
deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO (“DlI
Register”) were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Capacity/

Names Nature of interests

Sl it

Legal/beneficial owner

e/ 2R

New Media Lab Group Holdings Limited
(“New Media Lab Holdings”)
FECEEEARERAD ((MELER) S5/ ExEEA
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Capacity/ Number of % of issued
Nature of interests Shares interested voting Shares
FilsERa =k ni
Bin/ RmitE ZRH#E ERRERR %
Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Interest in a controlled 315,000,000 525
Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”) corporation (Note 1)
BRURERRERLAD((RERRERR]) R2BEECERWE1)
First Trust Management AG Trustee of a private 315,000,000 525
(“First Trust”) discretionary trust (Note 2)
MABBET T WEE2)
Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert Founder of a private 315,000,000 525
(“Dr. Yeung”) discretionary trust (Note 2)
BemET ((REL) MARBETBIEA HE2)
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse (Note 3) 315,000,000 525
EA=yoan BB (M5 3)
Double Blossoms Legal/beneficial owner 90,000,000 15
&/ EnBEBA (Note 4)
(Briz4)
Double Fantastic Group Limited Legal/beneficial owner 45,000,000 75
(“Double Fantastic”)
8%/ BaEEA
Ms. Lee Lan Kiu Interest in a controlled 45,000,000 75
(“Ms. Venus Lee”) corporation (Note 5)
SRBUT(FXTL)) RS EB R (Wi s5)
Mr. Yau Yi Ping Interest of spouse (Note 6) 45,000,000 7.5
Fria¥rs BB (f5t6)
Notes: st -
1. The entire issued share capital of New Media Lab Holdings 1. FETE RN EFTRAD

BERNBELRES MESME
&R EFirst Trust/EREE T
UMW ARBEFNZFTARS -
BEAREERBRRERILHEEE
ERAIRFEAOEERDDHS

First Trust R 5B 1T BlR M ABY
BESTNZTARAPFEA - RIES
HREHEEM > First Trust 215 8
TEREWRRIRF B ZR M
B EEHBERDPHEE R -

was held by AY Investments Holdings, which in turn was
held by First Trust as trustee of a private discretionary trust
set up by Dr. Yeung. AY Investments Holdings was deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New
Media Lab Holdings.

2. First Trust was the trustee and Dr. Yeung was the founder 2.
of the private discretionary trust. By virtue of the SFO, each
of First Trust and Dr. Yeung was deemed to be interested
in the same number of Shares held by New Media Lab
Holdings.
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3. Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon was deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares held by New Media Lab Holdings by
virtue of the deemed interest held by her spouse, Dr. Yeung.

4. These Shares were the same Shares of which Mr. Royce Lee
was deemed to be interested in and was set out under the
section (A) of “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities” above.

5. Ms. Venus Lee legally and beneficially owned the entire
issued share capital of Double Fantastic and was deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares held by Double
Fantastic.

6. Mr. Yau Yi Ping was deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares held by Double Fantastic by virtue of the
deemed interest held by his spouse, Ms. Venus Lee.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Directors or Chief Executives were not aware of any
person or corporation (other than the Directors and Chief
Executives) who had, or were deemed or taken to have,
any interests or short positions in any Shares or underlying
Shares as recorded in the DI Register.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates was interested in any business
which was considered to compete or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS

IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS

OR CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During and at the end of the Year, none of Directors
or entities connected to the Directors was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the Group’s
business.

The Group had not entered into any connected transaction
or continued connected transactions during the Year,
which is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All transactions under note 27 to consolidated financial
statements are connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
exempted from announcement, reporting, annual review
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The then controlling Shareholders, namely (i) New Media
Lab Holdings, (ii) Albert Yeung Holdings Limited (“AY
Holdings”), (iii) The Albert Yeung Discretionary Trust (“AY
Trust”), (iv) Dr. Yeung, (v) Mr. Royce Lee and (vi) Double
Blossoms had entered into the deed of non-competition
in favour of the Company on 26 June 2023 (“Deed of
Non-Competition”), details of which have been set out
in the section headed ”"Relationship With Controlling
Shareholders” in the prospectus of the Company dated 30
June 2023. On 19 August 2024, AY Holdings and AY Trust
(collectively “Outgoing Controlling Shareholders”) ceased
to be the controlling Shareholders and AY Investments
Holdings and Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary
Trust (collectively “New Controlling Shareholders”)
became the controlling Shareholders. As such, a deed of
release and adherence was executed on 5 March 2025 by
(i) New Media Lab Holdings, (ii) Dr. Yeung, (iii) Mr. Royce
Lee, (iv) Double Blossoms, (v) the Outgoing Controlling
Shareholders and (vi) the New Controlling Shareholders
(collectively “Covenantors”) as well as (vii) the Company,
under which the Outgoing Controlling Shareholders were
released and discharged from the obligations, covenants,
undertakings and liabilities under the Deed of Non-
Competition and the New Controlling Shareholders have
been bound by the Deed of Non-Competition since 19
August 2024.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/it had
complied with the terms of Deed of Non-Competition
and have enforced the undertakings under the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Year or the period during
which the Outgoing Controlling Shareholders or the New
Controlling Shareholders as the controlling shareholder of
the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”)
have reviewed the compliance and enforcement status
of the Deed of Non-Competition and as far as the
INEDs can ascertain, there has been no breach of the
undertakings given in the Deed of Non-Competition
by the Covenantors during Year or the period during
which the Outgoing Controlling Shareholders or the New
Controlling Shareholders as the controlling shareholder of
the Company.

New Media Lab Limited $1EE&BR/AT 2024 Annual Report F 3§

I RR P REE

BEENERRES BIOITETE
B (DEBTREXERERAT (45
TSRREZEER]) - (i) The Albert
Yeung Discretionary Trust ([ AY
Trust]) " (VBB T - WEELEER
(vi) Double Blossoms = R2023 4
6 326 BLIAR T RZm A I #:
BN ((RFHEBEN]) - H5FEBEE
RANTBHR2023F683082
BREEEIERRERIVEEEMR] —& -
R2024F 88198 B2 W E %
RS R AY Trust (i 78 [ 88 1E 12 AR AR
R ABERERKE  MESHBRE
RS K Albert Yeung Investments
Discretionary Trust (i #5 [ #7$=AR AR
R RRERKEE - AL - (HFTEE
SR - GDBET -~ GiDZFEE - (v)
Double Blossoms * (v) Bff {128 &% i
SRR (VFTIER SR (RS [REA)
IR (viD RATFR2025F 385858
VBBRERETREN Bk - 82024
fEs)%wBt BEEER R ERRIR R
BIRARIRNIB N o= R
7?(”752%1}_ ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?@zﬂz%%E 7F
PR KKIR -

SEEABER  RRAFERNTEE
EZRRRRAFTERERRIERALT
ERERREE  BEITAHRIRNZ
R - WEMT AR I RINE N2 A

=+t

565 ©

BIUFFNTES (BRI IFERNT E%J)
B BRI RAET RHNITE)
PIREBIIIERTESHA BQZTSE
EH T ERRERAMEREEIER
K@ﬁ?mﬁzﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ BN 2
RAZE PR T < %GB -




DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESERS

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided
by the Board as recommended by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to a written remuneration
policy (which ensures a clear link to business strategy
and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest
and current market best practice). Remuneration
should be paid with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives, the salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
executive and non-executive Directors, internal equity of
employment conditions across the Group and applicability
of performance-based remuneration. The Directors’ fees
are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.

Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance
with individual’s responsibility, competence and skills,
experience and performance as well as market pay level.
Remuneration package includes, as the case may be, basic
salaries, Directors’ fees, contribution to pension schemes,
discretionary bonus relating to financial performance of
the Group and individual performance, ad hoc rewards,
share options and other competitive fringe benefits such
as medical insurance. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual
report, there was sufficient public float of at least 25% of
the issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its re-
appointment as independent auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Yat Pui, Royce
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
“Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards
Shareholders, investors, employees as well as stakeholders
of Company and has adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules so as to having effective application of
the principles of good corporate governance. During the
Year, the Company had fully complied with all the code
provisions of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate
culture, focusing on four pillars, namely customer
centricity, excellence in products and services, people first
and positivity, which is underpinned by its purpose and
values that enable employees at all levels of the Group to
thrive and meet their full potentials by acting in a lawful,
ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company
to deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate
in a way that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they
are integrated throughout the Company’s operational
practices, workplace policies and practices and
stakeholder relationships:
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and
shaping the corporate culture of the Company, as well
as defining the purpose, values and strategic direction of
the Group, which are under review by the Board. Taking
into account the corporate culture is reflected in various
contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee
retention and training, legal and regulatory compliance,
staff safety, wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose,
value and strategy of the Group are aligned with one
another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of success of
the Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing
and supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic
directions and monitoring the financial and management
performance of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised six
Directors, with three Executive Directors and three INEDs.
Names and biographical details of the members of the
Board are set out from pages 14 to 17 of this annual
report under the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section. All of them possess the skills,
experience and expertise either in the same industry or
relevant to the management of the business of the Group.

To ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, the following mechanisms were established
during the Year:

. sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three,
representing more than one-third of the Board;

. no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

. separation of the role of the Chairman and the CEO
ensures that there is a balance of power and authority;
and

. annual meeting between the Chairman and all INEDs
without presence of other Directors provides an effective
platform for the Chairman to listen to independent views
on various issues concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed the implementation
of these mechanisms and determined that they remain
effective.
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The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy
setting out the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
to the business nature of the Company. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service, and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time.
The merits and contribution that will bring to the Board
for any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate
nominated to be Director will also be assessed, taking into
account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the
future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of
educational background, professional knowledge, industry
experience and length of service. The diversity mix of the
Board as at 31 December 2024 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age
Distribution and Length of Service

ARYMEMNESSDTICHR - &
PIRERRBANIEHUEEMR
FEERE KERASTHRERD
TILESBNNE - RUCESSHE
A ARIERZOTBZRESS
27l - BIEEARRRMA - Fi
YICREBEER Bk FELER -
g  ABERRBESN URESE
TEAFBREBVERBEANTOR
AR - ARYNMBERBALIBIE
ERBURKRRATFT OV A ~ K058
MREZITTICES - UG EORZE
ESEEFUITERIZERESH
REASREESHRNVEERSAL -

ERNESSHEHURRITHBEES
BHERHE  TECREBRBTHNZD
TS - 1R2024F 128315 - &
ENZTiLEASHEMWT -

() EFZHEL - MBI Fér D
1R ARFS F Y

Number of Directors
ESAH
6

5

4

Gender

a2zl

Designation
o)

Age Group
FEsHES)

Length of Services
(No. of years)

RBER (F)
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience

(i) EFBKBERISTH

E R A

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience

MBEBITERE,HERR

Business Management
=g

Legal/Regulatory
EREHE

Financial & Accounting
B R

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
FRREERRREE

The Board’s gender diversity level is relatively high
compared to other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, with two female directors out of six (33.3%).
During the Year, the Nomination Committee and the Board
reviewed the gender diversity target of having no less
than 25% female directors on the Board. The Nomination
Committee was of the view that the current gender
diversity of the Board was appropriate, balanced and
exceeding the target set. Therefore, no timeline or plan
was proposed for further enhancing the gender diversity
target of the Board for the time being. The Nomination
Committee will continue reviewing the composition of the
Board to maintain diversity.

As at 31 December 2024, our total workforce comprised
of 66% female and 34% male, whereas senior management
comprised of 37.5% female and 62.5% male. The current
gender diversity of workforce was appropriate taking into
account the business models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election provisions under the
Articles of Association and the Listing Rules. Based on the
annual review conducted by the Nomination Committee,
the Board considered each of them to be independent
with reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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Board Process

Other than regular Board meetings are held during the
Year, additional Board meetings, or meetings of Board
committees established by the Board to consider specific
matters, were convened, when necessary.

The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during
the Year is set out below:

ESBER

RAFER BRESRCTESLSLH
o TEFERTEINNEESSH -
NEEESRNEETSEESDH -
DS s E -

BSEBRAFELRSH
NN

(EPMERl

Number of meetings attended/held

tme/ BIewRa

Corporate

Audit Remuneration  Nomination  Governance Executive General

Name of Directors Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee Meeting
ERER
gtz ENERE HMERE  REERE ZRE ifzRe RRAE
Executive Directors
anEs
Mr. Wong Chi Fai 5/5(C) - 1 - - 7/7(C) 11
ELRTE
Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce 5/5 - - - - /7 11
i
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 5/5 - - N 1/1(C) 717 11
EEL T
Independent
Non-executive Directors
RUFNTES
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu 5/5 33 - 11(C) Il - "N
Lo
Mr. Mak Kam Chiu 5/5 3/3(C) 1 - /1 - N
RivalTE
Mr. Niu Zhongjie 5/5 33 1/1(C) N - - 11
s Yy
Total number of meetings held:
ansdes: 5 3 1 1 1 7 1
I N I N S N

C: Chairperson/Chairman of the Board/committee
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During the Year, the Chairman held a meeting with INEDs
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance
with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company has received biannual confirmation from
each Director that he/she has given sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company during the Year.
Directors also disclosed to the Company the changes,
if any, in the number and nature of offices they held in
public companies or organizations and other significant
commitment, including the identity of the public
companies or organizations and an indication of the time
involved.

During the Year, Mr. Wong Chi Fai acted as the Chairman
of the Board who provided leadership to the Board. The
day-to-day management of the Group was delegated by
the Board to the CEO, Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce who was
responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development. The segregation of duties
made the Board and the operation of the Group function
effectively.

The Chairman sets the agenda for the Board and ensures
that members of the Board receive accurate, timely
and clear information, and that matters to be taken
into consideration are given their due weight, so that
sound decisions can be made. With the assistance of the
Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures that the Board
properly exercises its powers, holds its meetings and
implements procedures in compliance with all rules and
requirements, and full and proper records are maintained.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than a written resolution. That
Director will abstain from voting on the relevant Board
resolution and he/she shall not be counted in the quorum
present at the Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have
access to supporting papers and relevant information for
each scheduled meeting. All Directors also have access to
the services of the Company Secretary and her team, and
may take independent professional advice upon request,
at the Company’s expense.
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Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Besides,
the Company provides Directors with regular updates on
changes to and developments of the Group’s business,
and on the latest developments in the laws, rules and
regulations relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities
to help them make informed decisions and discharge their
duties and responsibilities as Directors.

During the Year, each Director had participated in
continuous professional development by attending
seminars/workshops/reading materials on the following
topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided a record of training to the Company:

Name of Directors

ESMIERN RIS
FEENESHEEDRESEE
ERBETOMEEN » 29 KA
IEHOEBRUAEBEL BB R
BEROBHEN  URRESHIER
BETHNEE  RAUR RO RHN
BE - DB SFLAIBERERE
TRSFRESNBFREE -

RAFER SESWESREES
LR ZBURBEEUNEECH
S8/ TR,/ BEMA  DBER
BHRS2AFRRE  WEBDARQ
QIRHIBFIE KR

Topics on training covered

E=NS

Mr. Wong Chi Fai &5 18404

Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce Z=—IE 4

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa S0l 1+
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu &&= 1

Mr. Mak Kam Chiu 258388404

Mr. Niu Zhongjie L8554

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee.

1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consisted of all the
Executive Directors during the Year, namely Mr.
Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Lee
Yat Pui, Royce and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa. It
has all powers and authorities of the Board except
the following major matters as set out in a “Formal
Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated by
the Board”:

. determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;
. approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

. declaring or recommending payment of
dividends or other distributions;
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. approving major changes that require notification
by announcement under the Listing Rules;

. approving publication of announcements for
notifiable transactions (except for discloseable
transactions in relation to lease transactions
recognizing the right-of-use asset according to
HKFRS 16 “Leases”) under the Listing Rules;

. approving non-exempt connected transactions/
non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(other than those transactions took place from
time to time under the master agreement(s)
previously approved by the Board/Shareholders
(as the case may be)) under the Listing Rules;
and

. approving major capital restructuring and issue
of new securities of the Company.

To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the
formulation and implementation of the environment,
social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives of the
Group, a sub-committee under the Executive
Committee known as the ESG Committee was set
up. The ESG Committee consists of representatives
from operations and supporting departments and
the Executive Committee. It has the powers and
authorities as delegated by the Executive Committee
to formulate and execute relevant ESG action plan,
and assess and make recommendations on matters
concerning the Group’s sustainability development
and ESG risks and opportunities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consisted of three INEDs during
the Year, namely Mr. Mak Kam Chiu (Chairman of the
Committee), Ms. Cheng Ka Yu and Mr. Niu Zhongjie.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include
duties specified in the CG Code and are posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

Vi.

reviewed with the management/finance
personnel and/or the independent auditor the
effectiveness of audit process and the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group,
and the accuracy and fairness of the annual
consolidated financial statements for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 (“Previous Year”)
and the interim consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

reviewed with the senior management and
finance personnel the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group for the Previous Year;

recommended to the Board on the re-
appointment of independent auditor at the 2024
annual general meeting (2024 AGM”);

reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-
audit services payable to the independent
auditor;

approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed
the independence of the independent auditor
and approved its engagement; and

reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consisted of three
members during the Year, namely Mr. Niu Zhongjie
(Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Mak Kam Chiu,
both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai, being an
Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which
include duties specified in the CG Code and are
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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A summary of work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i reviewed the Directors’ fees and made
recommendation to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/
package of the Executive Directors and senior
management and recommended the Board to
approve their specific packages.

Before making recommendation to the Board,
the Remuneration Committee has reviewed and
assessed the remuneration package of the Directors
with reference to the Group’s operating results,
duties and level of responsibility of the Directors
and the prevailing market conditions. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consisted of three
members during the Year, namely Ms. Cheng Ka Yu
(Chairperson of the Committee) and Mr. Niu Zhongjie,
both being INEDs, Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa, being
an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which
include duties specified in the CG Code and are
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for
formulating policy and making recommendations
to the Board on nomination, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, and Board succession
pursuant to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company.

The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the
Nomination Committee in identifying and nominating
suitable candidates for directorship based on the
Board Diversity Policy and sets out the nomination
criteria and the nomination procedures for (i)
nominating new Director to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board; (ii) making recommendation to Directors
and Shareholders regarding any Director proposed
for election or re-election at general meeting; and
(iii) nomination by Shareholders on election of new
Director.
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The Nomination Committee may identify potential
candidates from any source as it may consider
appropriate and evaluate them by considering
various factors, including their professional expertise,
industry and business experience, time commitments,
potential contributions to board diversity, material
conflict of interest with the Group (if any) and
independence (for INEDs). The Committee will then
make recommendation of suitable candidates to the
Board for consideration of appointment. In case of re-
appointment of existing Directors who will retire at
an annual general meeting (“AGM”), the Committee
will review the retirement of Directors and make
recommendations to the Board accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board,;

ii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

iii. reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding
independent views available to the Board,

iv. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

v. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in
performing their duties as Directors;

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of Directors at the 2024 AGM; and

vii. reviewed the gender diversity target at Board
level.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG
Committee”) consisted of five members during
the Year, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive
Director, Ms. Cheng Ka Yu and Mr. Mak Kam Chiu,
both being INEDs, a representative from company
secretarial function and a representative from finance
and accounts function.
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The specific written terms of reference of the CG
Committee is available on the Company’s website. The
primary duties of the CG Committee are (i) developing
and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Company (“CG Policy”) and making
recommendations to the Board; (ii) reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices of the Company
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(iii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the codes
of conduct applicable to Directors and relevant
employees of the Group regarding dealings in the
Company’s securities; (iv) reviewing and monitoring
the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; and (v)
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i reviewed the CG Policy;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group;
and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, duly complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to Directors, all of them confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard of dealings as set
out in Model Code throughout the Year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to
prepare the annual consolidated financial statements
of the Group and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules. The management has provided
all members of the Board with monthly updates on
internal consolidated financial statements which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and
estimates that were prudent and reasonable and ensured
the consolidated financial statements were prepared on
a “going concern” basis (with supporting assumptions or
qualifications as necessary) and showed a true view of the
state of affairs of the Group for the Year. The management
provided sufficient explanation and information to the
Board on the consolidated financial statements to enable it
to make an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before it for approval. The independent
auditor of the Company made a statement about their
reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

A. Goals and Objectives
Internal control is fundamental to the successful
operation and day-to-day running of a business and it
assists a company in achieving its business objectives.
The appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems (“Risk Control Systems”)
are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems
include:

. safeguarding assets;

. ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports;

. promoting adherence to policies, procedures,
regulations and laws; and

. promoting effectiveness and efficiency of
operations.
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Internal control policies and procedures within
the Group are updated regularly with the primary
objective of providing general guidance and
recommendations on a basic framework of Risk
Control Systems.

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s
internal control measures and procedures covering
governance, operational, financial and compliance
controls; and (ii) risk management functions in the
principal subsidiaries of the Company for the Year.

Internal Control

1. Governance Control
The control structure of the Risk Control Systems
is set out as follows:

The Board
. responsible for the overall Risk Control
Systems and reviewing their effectiveness;

. oversee the Risk Control Systems on an
ongoing basis with the assistance of the
Audit Committee;

. ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Risk Control Systems;

. define management structure with clear lines
of responsibility and limits of authority; and

. determine the nature and extent of significant
risks (including the ESG risks) that the Group
is willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives and formulate the Group’s risk
management strategies.
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Audit Committee

. review and discuss the Risk Control Systems
with the management annually to ensure
that the management has performed its duty
to maintain effective Risk Control Systems.
This discussion also includes the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions;

. review the nature and extent of significant
risks (including ESG risks), and the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment;

. consider major findings on internal control
matters (if any) raised by internal or independent
auditors and make recommendations to the
Board; and

. review and discuss annually with significant
control failings or weaknesses that are
identified by the auditors.

Executive Committee

. with the assistance of the ESG Committee,
review the effectiveness of ESG-related Risk
Control Systems and report to the Audit
Committee for its review.

The management (includes CEO, heads of business

units, departments and divisions)

. design and implement the Risk Control
Systems’ policies and procedures duly
endorsed by senior management and the
Board;

. monitor the Risk Control Systems properly
and ensure they are executed effectively;

. monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in day-to-day operations;

. give prompt responses to, and follow up the

findings on internal control matters raised by
internal or independent auditors;
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provide written confirmation to the Board
on the effectiveness of the Risk Control
Systems; and

prepare organization charts to show the
reporting relationships within the operation
and management to establish lines of
responsibilities.

Internal Audit Department

carry out the analysis and independent
appraisal of adequacy and effectiveness of
the Risk Control Systems in respect of all
material controls;

alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities, if any, and advise
them on the implementation of necessary
steps and actions to enhance the internal
controls of the Group; and

report results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee
and the Board on a regular basis.

Operational Controls

The management is responsible for analysing the
control environment, identifying risks pertaining
thereto, and implementing various controls
therein as follows:

Approach taken: The management communicates
with relevant staff, reviews relevant documentation
of the Risk Control Systems and evaluates findings
of any deficiencies in the design of the Group’s Risk
Control Systems, then provides recommendations
for improvement and assesses the effectiveness of
implementation of such recommendations, where
appropriate. The scope and findings of review on
the Risk Control Systems will be reported to the
Audit Committee annually;

Procedure manuals and operational
guidelines: To safeguard the assets against
unauthorised use or disposition and ensure
maintenance of proper accounting records
that are in compliance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal
use and/or external publication;
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Vi.

Management information system and
technology: To control over the business
activities, it allows close tracking of various
inputs and outputs of the Group’s business
such as products and customer relationship
and human resources. It also tracks audit
trails in the authorisation system, under
which permissions and responsibility of
authorisation are clearly identified and
adequate records can be maintained in the
Risk Control Systems;

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on
regular basis;

Safeguarding of assets: Regular physical
count of petty cash and fixed assets with
reconciliation to ledgers are performed by
Finance and Accounts Department; and

Service quality control: Regular review on
digital platforms of business segments to
ensure the service quality.

3. Financial Controls

Policies, procedures and systems are in
place to ensure proper accounting records
are maintained which provide complete,
accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

Financial budget and forecast of the Group
are prepared and reviewed regularly to
ensure any action can be taken to mitigate
any changes in conditions and market
accordingly;

Financial management reports are provided
to all Directors and senior management
which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance,
financial position and prospects in sufficient
details;
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iv. Operational reports on revenue, debtors’
ageing and internal financial analysis are
prepared to the management which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of
the Group’s operation performance;

v. Available fund report and cash flow forecast
are reviewed to monitor the cash flows of
the Group; and

vi. Annual audit by independent auditor is carried
out to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
laws and regulations.

Compliance Controls
The following policies and procedures are in
place to safeguard the compliance controls:

i. Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which
shall be reviewed and monitored regularly
by the CG Committee as delegated by the
Board in order to ensure that the Group is
in compliance with all the applicable laws,
statutes, rules and regulations and keep up
on any legal developments;

ii. Systems and procedures on disclosure
of inside information to ensure, with the
assistance of an internal work team (if
required), that any material information which
comes to the knowledge of any one or more
officers should be promptly identified, assessed
and escalated, where appropriate, for the
attention of the Board. The Board shall make
timely decisions on disclosure, if necessary,
and take appropriate measures to preserve
confidentiality of inside information until
proper dissemination of inside information;
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Vi.

Continuing connected transactions
Compliance Committee is established
to monitor, control and regularly review
connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group and
ensure proper compliance with all relevant
laws and regulations, the Listing Rules and
disclosure requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide
reporting channels and guidance for employees
and related third parties who have business
dealings with the Group (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, about any suspected misconduct
or malpractice within the Group. The Audit
Committee, delegated by the Board, shall ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair
and independent investigation of any concerns
raised, appropriate follow-up actions are taken
and other recommendations are provided, if
thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to
outline the Group’s zero-tolerance stance
against bribery and corruption and assists
employees in recognising circumstances that
may lead to or give the appearance of being
involved in corruption or unethical business
conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which
is clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek
guidance where necessary or report any
reasonably suspected case of corruption or
any attempts thereof, to the management
through an appropriate reporting channel;
and

Anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing policy and procedures
is established to set out the general
framework for combating crime against
money laundering and financing of terrorism.
It provides guideline to combat money
laundering and terrorist and help the Group’s
employees identify and assess clients/
customers/suppliers/vendors/contractors/
transactions/activities of high risk of
money laundering, terrorist financing or
other financial crime and take appropriate
measures and actions.
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Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal
Audit Department regularly. Internal audit reviews
and agreed action plans are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on timely basis.

Risk Management

1. Risk Management Process
The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk analysis, risk evaluation, risk
management measures and risk control and
review.

The management is entrusted with duties to
identify, analyse, evaluate, respond, monitor
and communicate risks associated with any
activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. Risks are evaluated
by the Board and management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risk on the Group’s
financial results; (ii) the probability and frequency
that the risks will occur; and (iii) the velocity or
speed at which risks can occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risk as follows:

. Risk elimination — the management may
identify and implement certain changes
or controls that in effect eliminate the risk
entirely.

. Risk mitigation — the management may
implement risk mitigation plan designed to
reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of
the risk to an acceptable level or contingency
plan for possible loss scenarios.

. Risk control and monitoring — it involves
making decisions regarding which risks
are acceptable and how to address
those that are not. Accidents and other
situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as
part of the effort to manage risks.
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. Risk retention — the management may
decide that the risk rating is low enough that
the risk is acceptable level and no action
is required and the risk will continue to be
monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not
increase to an unacceptable level.

2. Significant Risks and Strategies
Certain significant risks have been identified
through the process of risk identification and
assessment. Such significant risks of the Group
and their respective key strategies/control
measures are set out below:

i. Strong competition and competitive market
environment in digital advertising business

Periodically review and adjust the
business strategic plans to cope with
the competition.

Investment on the Group’s media brand
awareness to differentiate from other
competitors.

ii. Heavy reliance on third-party social media
platforms for distribution of contents

Monitor the updates of third-party social
media platform policy.

Maintain a well-developed platform
team to adapt any changes of third-
party social media platform policy.

Monitor and adapt the audience preference,
expand or diversify the Group’s digital
distribution channels.

New Media Lab Limited $1EE&BR/AT 2024 Annual Report F 3§

BISABKE — €12
B EERE R
B IR e S 1K M &l &R
BB KEMBA
REREGTBRURE
RERSESE Y —
Lo REEEREA

BRUERRRAS E
HEATYEZIKE -

BEARBERERE
AEBEEZARKRBEB &

HEEEHAES

S TEXKE

R AEBERNZSE
AERUEREBBEER
RES,EHIEREIIT

BERSEBENHRS

MAURARABNE

-
T3R8 5T R I B
2 75 52 15 51 8 )
ST -

- REAEEOEK
BRBAIE -
Dlfe 5 3
FPIRFAME

HE=-FURKREF
EBMATHNEERIK
B

. g/— r—'—,f\—/-r

=J3 LA
ﬁﬂ, BHEEH
B -

- HERTBHNYE
B UBEESE
=R EEY
B BUR VLT #
g -

- HBERRUSER
EF ERXAD
TIE RNE B HH
ERE -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREBRS

iv.

The contents may expose the Group to
potential liabilities, damages to brand
names and reputation

Before any publication of contents or
advertisement on the Group’s media
platforms, there is a set of internal
control for reviewing and checking the
compliance of all regulatory requirements
and quality of our publications.

Stay alert to public information in different
media, in particular to that involving the
brand and reputation of the Group’s
media brands.

When aware of any adverse publicities
or rumours, the Group’s Communications
Department follows up and makes
clarification or disclaimer to the public
quickly. If the case is serious, legal action
may be taken.

IT systems/programming errors or other
defects disrupting business operations and
cyber security risk

The Company’s IT infrastructure is regularly
scanned and patched and make sure the
maintenance support is in place.

Regular backups of data for recovery.

Access rights to the Group’s systems
are strictly controlled and regularly
reviewed.

Trainings of proper use of the systems
are provided to staff regularly.

Risky external IP addresses are blocked.
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Emails are filtered for spam and malware
and trainings about dangerous email
attachments are provided.

Specialized ransomware/virus detection
software is installed in all computers.

v. People retention and talent acquisition

Ensure competitiveness of the compensation
policy with supervision by the Remuneration
Committee.

Forster the “Continuous Improvement”
corporate culture.

Develop and implement staff development
and learning programs.

Clear line of sight on career ladder.

Maintain regular dialogues with staff on
personal goals for career advancement.

Develop and implement staff recognition
and work-life balance programmes.

D. Management Confirmation
The Board acknowledged that it had received
a confirmation from the management on the
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems of the
Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and the
Board, upon reviewing the Risk Control Systems, were
not aware of any significant issues that would have
an adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy
of the Group’s operational, financial and compliance
areas of the Risk Control Systems.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a dividend policy setting out
the principles for the Board to determine appropriate
amount of dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders.
The Company intends to provide the Shareholders with
regular interim and final dividends (as the case may be)
based on the earnings attributable to its Shareholders
after taking into consideration of the factors as stated in
the policy, including, inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements
for business operations; (ii) cash available, financial
liabilities and capital commitment; (iii) market environment
and challenges; and (iv) future development and
investment opportunities. The declaration of dividends or
recommendation on such payment shall be subject to all
applicable laws, rules and regulations including but not
limited to the Listing Rules, the applicable laws of Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy
(available on the website of the Company) sets out the
strategies, practices and commitment for maintaining
ongoing and effective communication with the
Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and in
appropriate circumstances, the investment community
at large so as to enable them to engage with the
Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders in
an informed manner. To this end, the Company strives
to ensure that all Shareholders ready and timely access
to all publicly available information of the Group. To
facilitate communication with Shareholders and the
investment community, the Company has established
various communication channels, as follows: (i) the
holding of AGMs and extraordinary general meetings
(“EGM”), if any, which may be convened for specific
purposes to provide opportunities for the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Board; (ii) the publication
of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/
or circulars as required under the Listing Rules and press
releases providing updated information of the Group; (iii)
the availability of latest information of the Group on the
Company’s website at https://www.NewMedialLab.com.hk;
(iv) the holding of press conference(s) from time to
time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts when
necessary.
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General presentations are made when financial results are
announced and dialogue with institutional Shareholders
is made from time to time. Shareholders and investors
are welcome to visit the Company’s website and to raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department
whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website and the “Corporate Information and Key Dates”
section of this annual report.

The Chairman of the Board and the chairmen/members
of the Board Committees, appropriate management
executives and the independent auditor (as the case may
be) are available to attend the general meetings to answer
questions from the Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy annually to ensure its implementation and
effectiveness. Having considered the multiple channels
of communication and engagement in place, the Board is
satisfied that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy was
properly in place during the Year and remains effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
CG Code:

Right to Convene/Call General Meetings
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share
basis, shall have the right to submit a written requisition
for attention of the Board or the Company Secretary,
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene
an EGM for a day not more than 2 months after the date
of deposit of such requisition, the requisitionist(s) may
convene a physical meeting at only one location which
will be the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or
the Cayman Companies Act for the Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene an EGM in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director
The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.

Enquires from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to
the Investor Relations Department of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no significant changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with applicable
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the
view that Ernst & Young (“EY”) is independent and had
recommended the Board to propose its re-appointment
as the Company’s independent auditor at the 2025 AGM.
During the Year, EY had rendered audit services and non-
audit services to the Group and the remuneration paid/
payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

Service rendered

Ffi 3R {1 BR #5

Audit services
B EURTS

Non-audit services

FERBIRTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ENRE

EY::

To the shareholders of New Media Lab Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of New Media Lab Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 155,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % BETRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Key audit matter

ARSI BN
FRREMSBREERMEFABPEIR
FIARSBSHARITEC B RERTER
ANEBE - ZFBEERBMSBZIR
CUBRKZERHELORE  NEXR
EFFABLEORE - BRFIABIX
EEERHBURE - B M E
—SRASESFTPRWIEE VBN
PIERE = -

BRMBEKEND T A RS B S
SHRE U BRRAENESTI L OE
MHNEE  BIERELERESSE
MEEE - Wit - HFAINSBSHRBE
NTESUDERMAVRSYHBREK
tHIRE KRR AR BVFLS » 3
BREFNER  BRIEBNNER
WiEE - REMAVEN RS HBRK
BB RRHER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAREIZEIR

BRNSHAARRARSLEIR

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables

EZBNRRB R EEEREREE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had trade receivables amounting
to approximately HK$56.0 million,
representing approximately 20% of its total
assets.
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We evaluated the Group’s assessment and
determination of the loss allowance for ECLs
on trade receivables. The key procedures we
performed in evaluating the methodology,
assumptions, judgements and/or estimates used
in the assessment and determination included,
inter alia, the following:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% TR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

FAREXEIE &)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FABEIZBIR

HRINBH A AIRZREARBILEIR

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables (continued)

EZEIRBE R EEEREREE (B)

Significant management judgements,
estimates and assumptions are required
for assessing the loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade
receivables. The Group uses a provision
matrix, or other applicable approaches,
to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
Generally, the provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical loss
experience, supplemented/substituted by
relevant external data, as appropriate. The
Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the
historical loss experience/relevant external
information with current and forward-
looking information. At each reporting
date, the historical loss experience/
relevant external information are updated
and changes in forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
RAVGEBZENRERAEEEE ((RBESE
BiR)) o BERER  SBEAIEHERAE -
BtRiRE - SEERBRBERENEMEA
AT EBZBINRIENEHEEHIE - — R
msE  BEEEBEERA SEEEPLHELR
RER - WBELUBREINERIEBIERR, B - &
SERERME DS RAIEEENHER
P EEBEELR MEBINLER - REBBSH
H BPEECR BRIINSERSEH WD
RIS ET OV S -

HH‘HHH 56 New Media Lab Limited $TET&BRAT 2024 Annual Report £

we obtained an understanding of the
Group’s key process and procedures for the
assessment and determination of the loss
allowance for ECLs on trade receivables,
as well as certain key factors that
affected the underlying assumptions and
estimates, including, inter alia, the Group’s
historical loss experience/relevant external
information, and the current and forecast
economic conditions considered;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % BETRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

FAREZEIE &)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAREIZEIR

BRINSHAARRARSLEIR

Loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables (continued)

EZBRRB R EEEREREE (8)

For the year under review, the loss
allowance for ECLs on trade receivables
of the Group has been determined by
management with the assistance from an
independent professionally qualified valuer
(the “external valuer”).

ROBEER - f%%%%EWWE%%%A
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We identified the assessment of the loss
allowance for ECLs on trade receivables of
the Group as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the balance involved and the
significant management judgements and
estimates required in determining the loss
allowance for ECLs on trade receivables.
BRAEEBEHRIV[AEURIRETCE ZRIGRIE
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The related disclosures about significant
accounting judgements and estimates and
the information about the loss allowance
for ECLs on trade receivables are included
in notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
BASFTHE RIGFOEEREZEURE BRI
REBHEEBENEERFBEINEEERN DB
BRRES U B RRMEE3IR16 -

we assessed certain key assumptions,
judgements and/or estimates made in the
Group’s assessment;
BTG SE£EBNGEPHENS TERER
B HETRRSE

we evaluated the objectivity, capabilities
and competence of the external valuer
engaged by the Group;

HEPIFEGST SEEZENINPGEMNZE
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we involved our internal specialists to assist
us in evaluating the methodologies/models
and data used, and certain key assumptions,
judgements and/or estimates made in the
assessment and determination of the loss
allowance for ECLs on trade receivables;
and
ZPIRBERBARAGSTAEORECESRE
WHRIBEYR BEEBE CBBREIEMALN A - B
EHEURAELES TERERR AR N
BEt R

we tested, on a sample basis, the
underlying ageing analysis of the Group’s
trade receivables by checking the Group’s
supporting information and the arithmetic
accuracy of the calculation of the loss
allowance for ECLs on trade receivables
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ENRE

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % BETRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % BETRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
GSRRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Hit5t FiET FET

REVENUE 1§ 5 207,227 220,885
Other income and gains HAU A BN 25 5 6,543 4,430
Employee benefit expense EERMNFE>< (103,428) (100,901
Production costs BUEMRA (53,773) (54,909)
Printing costs EDmIAR A (2,598) (2,829)
Depreciation and amortisation  IT& K igsH 15,173) (16,966)
Reversal of impairment of B2 RIIBRI{ERED

trade receivables 1,234 1,186
Other expenses, net HitmB R P& (22,891) (28,260)
Finance costs MERMA 7 (2,742) (3,766)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B %54 AU g2 7 6 14,399 18,870
Income tax expense IR 10 (908) (4,345)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRRF 13,491 14,525
Attributable to: ARAILREWS:

Owners of the parent ISYNSIE/SSPN 13,491 14,525
EARNINGS PER SHARE BT RREREEA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EitEiREF

ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 2
Basic and diluted EARES HK2.2 cents #fll  HK2.8 cents &/l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FREZEWER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/
(loss) that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign

operations
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent

2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
FiET FE7T
FrEF 13,491 14,525
Hin2 @ (E&i8)
HEERE O e E#T D EE
b Py A=K (=TT
Was (E18) -
REFINEFEER ETR
(160) 79
FRAZEMSRE
13,331 14,604
A RALREL :
ISYNSIEZZSPN 13,331 14,604
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBRRR

31 December 2024 2024F123315

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deposit

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Tax recoverable

Pledged bank deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

Tax payables

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities

Provision

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the parent

Issued capital

Reserves

Total equity

Lee Yat Pui, Royce
F—it
Executive Director

WITEF

ERBEE

M -~ BB RRIE
FRREE
B|EEE

g
ELERBEE
ERBEEMRE

Illbgég

B EUIGRIE

BIVRIE ~ 2z READ
FEIRIB

gNORIE

BEBRITER

B RIRTFEY

mENEERE

mENaE

BIEINE
HiENRERESTER
HEEE

EENE ]

muggfﬁﬁgﬁ
MENEEIRE

ﬁméélﬁmmﬁafﬁ

E1 o =
HE8E

B
EREEERE
SEE$E

g
BAIARABABIGERS

BEORA
51
LR

Notes

fu=a

13
14
15
17
22

16
17

18
18

19
20
14

14
21

23
25

| 2024 | 2023
HK$°’000 HK$’000
FiE&r BT
16,051 19,841
42,179 52,086
1,578 256
3,074 2,983
1,758 665
64,640 75,831
55,967 62,663
4,236 4,243
2,067 2,292
800 800
149,997 142,738
213,067 212,736
4,576 6,398
24,488 20,296
9,426 9,412
170 99
38,660 36,205
174,407 176,531
239,047 252,362
35,648 45,074
6,557 6,557
42,205 51,631
196,842 200,731
. |
6,000 6,000
190,842 194,731
196,842 200,731

Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

SEEUR

Executive Director

WITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

moERBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F12B3318IFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATHEENEL
Exchange
Issued Share  fluctuation Other  Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve reserves losses equity
BR&ORA  RIDAE ERKBEE EHtEE FHEE  EneE
Notes  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
i3 F&7 &7 F&7r T&n T&r T&r
(note 23) (note 25)
(Bt 23) (Bt 25)
At 1January 2023 120231516 - - 48 93,407 (21957) 71,498
Profit for the year EREA - - - - 14,525 14,525
Other comprehensive income FREMZENE
for the year,
Exchange differences on translation ~ 2EBIHERNESR
of foreign operations =B - - 79 - - 79
Total comprehensive income FR2ENERE
for the year - - 79 - 14,525 14,604
Capitalisation issue UG 23(b) 4,500 (4,500) - - - -
Issue of shares pursuant to a share offer BERAEERTRG 230 1500 136,500 - - - 138000
Share issue expenses RIDEOES - (13,371) - - - (13.371)
Interim dividend DERS " - - - - (10000)  (10,000)
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12H318 6,000 118,629* 27 93,407 (17,432 200,731
I IS NS NN S
Attributable to owners of the parent
BAFRE AR
Exchange
Issued Share  fluctuation Other Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve  reserves losses equity
BRORA  ROER ERRBRE HbE RHER  EDEE
Note — HK$°000  HK$’000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
it Fi&r Fi&r Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n FiEn
(note 23) (note 25)
(Hrit23) (Wit 25)
At 1January 2024 R2024F1518 6,000 118,629 127 93,407 (17,432) 200,731
Profit for the year EREA - - - - 13,491 13,491
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREMEEESE :
Exchange differences on translation ~ REBNERNESR
of foreign operations ] - - (160) - - (160)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ERZEINE/(58)
for the year o] - - (160) - 13,491 13,331
Final 2023 dividend 03FRERE n - - - - (7,200) (7,200)
Interim 2024 dividend 204FDERS n - - c o (10,020)  (10,020)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F126318 6,000  118,629* (33 93407* (21161 196,842
I I NS DS S

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated =
reserves of HK$190,842,000 (2023: HK$194,731,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

TERBEREBEERGSMERR
RANRSFEIE$190,842,00058
75 (2023 4 : 194,731,000787T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GREREMER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

M5t FiET BT
CASH FLOWS FROM BETEMSRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BR& B A 14,399 18,870
Adjustments for: MU TNSEFHE -
Finance costs RERA 7 2,742 3,766
Interest income MBI 5 (5,384) (3,121
Depreciation of property, M= - MERRIEITE
plant and equipment 6 4,677 4,356
Depreciation of right-of-use GRREENE
assets 6 9,976 12,270
Amortisation of intangible B EEEH
assets 6 520 340
Write-off of items of property, 1illZE¥)ZE ~ BUE &
plant and equipment FKiEBEB 6 15 -
Reversal of impairment of B2 EINARIBERERED
trade receivables, net PRE 6 1,234) (1,186)
25,71 35,295
Decrease in trade receivables B EINFRIBE D 7,930 9,993
Decrease in prepayments, YBIURIB -~ i R EMEI
deposits and other receivables  FRIEE 464 4,966
Increase/(decrease) in trade B2 ENRIBIBN, CRD)
payables 1,822) 291
Increase in other payables and HMMENRIBERESIEH
accruals =0 4,461 1,583
Cash generated from operations & ELCIRE 36,744 52,128
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBHER (1,705) (10,289)
Net cash flows from operating K= EEMEREME
activities ] 35,039 41,839
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERBRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

Notes HK$°000 HK$°000

iz Fi&T FB7T

CASH FLOWS FROM REFHFRSRERSE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received =S 4,836 3,033
Purchase of items of property, BEBEWZ*¥ MERRIEES

plant and equipment 1,197) 1,251
Additions to intangible assets NEEEPEE 1,842) 188)
Net cash flows from investing KRETEBIRE

activities mEFEE 1,797 1,594
CASH FLOWS FROM AMEEHFRERERSE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of new BIOHRIDABREFHR

shares, net - 124,629
Interest paid ENAR = (581
Dividends paid BEYRER (17,220) (10,000)
New bank borrowings FIRTEE - 7,000
Repayment of bank borrowings EERTEE - (28,000)
Principal portion of lease HENRZ AT D

payments (9,478) (10,573)
Interest portion of lease HENRZHSEBD

payments (2,742) (3,185)
Net cash flows from/(used in)  RIETENFTS(FTHA)

financing activities RENE PR (29,440) 79,290
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERRESZEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS BN0BER 7,396 122,723
Cash and cash equivalents at FAORETRIVEEED

beginning of year 142,738 19,930
Effect of foreign exchange rate INER|ZR B FNHS/ L - JF58

changes, net 137) 85
CASH AND CASH FXRASRREEEY

EQUIVALENTS AT END

OF YEAR 149,997 142,738
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERRSEEMEER

OF CASH AND CASH DR

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RE RIVITHEER 18 18,081 14,341
Non-pledged time deposits with B A FRZEEH 4

original maturity of less than R=18FB9IEIEIPE HS

three months when acquired =R 18 131,916 128,397
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEEY 149,997 142,738
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

New Media Lab Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address
of the registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at 8th Floor,
Tower 1, The Quayside, 77 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong,

Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the

following principal activities:

. provision of digital and print advertising products
and services, and related businesses (collectively,

“digital and print media businesses”)

. magazine and book publishing

The immediate holding company of the Company
is New Media Lab Group Holdings Limited, which is

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as
at 31 December 2023, the ultimate holding company
of the Company was Albert Yeung Holdings Limited
(“AY Holdings”), which is incorporated in the BVI and
legally wholly-owned by First Trust Services AG acting
as the trustee of The Albert Yeung Discretionary
Trust, a private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung

Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited (“AY
Investments Holdings”), which is incorporated
in the BVI, has become the new ultimate holding
company of the Company on 19 August 2024 and AY
Investments Holdings is legally wholly-owned by First
Trust Management AG acting as the trustee of Albert
Yeung Investments Discretionary Trust, a private

discretionary trust set up by Dr. Albert Yeung.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

For the purposes of these financial statements,
all companies directly or indirectly controlled by
respective private discretionary trusts set up by
Dr. Albert Yeung are collectively referred to as the

“Emperor Group”.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

as follows:

New Media Group Limited

HEREBERNT

New Media Group Digital
Services Limited
FERIBREERAT

Media Publishing Limited

REMHRERAT

New Media Services Consultant
Company Limited

TERREETERAT

Time Year Limited

REERLT

Guangdong Xinchuan Network
Technology Company Limited**

ERFERENRERAT
(REGEARNE))

NMG (Hong Kong)
Company Limited

Issued ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
ERfLERE/
itREx

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

i/
HRREEE

BVI HK$78,000
AERUES 780007
Hong Kong HK$2
&k 28T
Hong Kong HK$2
&b 28R
Hong Kong HK$2
&8 28T
Hong Kong HK$2
&8 28T
The People’s Republic of RMB6,500,000
China (the “PRC")/ 6,500,000 \RH
Mainland China
0 \REAE (D&E))/
DEAE
Hong Kong HKS$!
&8 187

NaAREBER =)

MAMBRERMS @ IEBGEE
TR AREEHFEETE
BIPHADRER [ R2EE ] -

SRWEAINEE
ANDTENBRTFHED -

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company

FATREEREAL

Direct

Bt
100

* The English name of this entity registered in the PRC
represents the best efforts made by management of
the Company to directly translate its Chinese name as
it does not register any official English name.

~ EBEEFEEBREIs registered as a wholly-foreign-
owned enterprise under PRC law.
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Indirect

L

100

100

100

100

100

100

Principal activities

TERH

Investment holding

REMR

Investment holding and
digital media business

RERRRIBRERE

Magazine and book publishing, digital
and print media businesses and
copyright holding

HiREER IBROAEESS
RIGERE

Provision of group administrative
services

RUEESTHRE

Trademark holding and licensing

REBRRTT

Provision of group information
technology support services and
digital media business

REEEEINEZERER
IRRESH

Magazine publishing and digital and
print media businesses

EETREIIGIlE 35

BRZERWESCETEL
WY HE - QI EPEEC
RVBELOARIERERND
ERBEHPNIHEME -

ERHFEBEAKIREPEE
REMRIINSBELRS




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group, or
of particular importance to the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority
of voting rights results in control. When the
Company has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other

vote holders of the investee;
(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. BEEE@®
2.1 RNBXE ()

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits/accumulated losses, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

SHEXE (®)

BAEBREE —BNE
N LRI - AR ICAE
WABBEE (BEEE)
8  HEUFRREL R
RIRBEES  RIRBmER
EORBHERTLTEL
EECRHBABM AW
1B - SERIRAEMEERER
BB AEBEEELDIE
EFDRRBHIARSB R
A,/ REHBE (WER) » &
BUAEBEERHEMN
BWEERBBERCEEY

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B HERBEEZE
AND DISCLOSURES &)
The Group has adopted the following revised REBERATEYHER

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale

RE XKW NIELIZETE
BUBRSER -

EEUBREEN ERHONHE

HKFRS 16 and Leaseback Z6 (B3N  BE
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities EBSHENE ' BELRT
HKAS 1 as Current or Non- (BEIA) FRE5E
current (the “2020 ([2020%F
Amendments”) BEIX))
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities ESBEHENE ' BLEIRE
HKAS 1 with Covenants (the (BEIX) 8E([2022
“2022 Amendments”) FBEITE))

Amendments to Supplier Finance

BRSHENE TR HEBHELH

HKAS 7 and Arrangements REBUERSE
HKFRS 7 BIE 75 (1B5]A)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs
are described below:

(@

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure
the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with
variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, including what is
meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments,
and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms
of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) (continued)

©

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January
2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
clarify the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these new and
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become

effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements?

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?®
Amendments to Amendments to the

HKFRS 9 and Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to Contracts Referencing
HKFRS 9 and Nature-dependent
HKFRS 7 Electricity?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability’
HKAS 21

Annual Amendments to HKFRS 1,
Improvements HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
Accounting
Standards —
Volume T1

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B5HHE =)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EMMHMEBERERZ
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING EBMERSEER (=)

STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is
described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. While a number of
sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations
and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note
and introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS
1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of
the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group
is currently analysing the new requirements
and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to
apply reduced disclosure requirements while
still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an
entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot
have public accountability and must have a
parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries
are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in
their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting
policy option to derecognise a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics
of financial assets with environmental, social
and governance and other similar contingent
features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include
additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with an adjustment to opening retained profits/
accumulated losses (or other component of
equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can
only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments
at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BHHE =
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EMmEBEERERZ
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING EEMBMEEN (=)
STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts BBUBBREEAEIFTR

Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity
only apply to contracts that reference nature-
dependent electricity and clarify the application
of the ‘own-use’ requirements for in-scope
contracts. The amendments to HKFRS 9 will now
allow an entity designating a contract referencing
nature-dependent electricity as the hedging
instrument in a hedge of forecast electricity
transactions, to designate a variable nominal
amount of forecast electricity transactions as
the hedged item. HKFRS 7 has been amended
to require disclosures relating to contracts that
have been excluded from the scope of HKFRS 9
as a result of the amendments. In such cases, an
entity must disclose in a single note:

. Information about the contractual features
that expose the entity to variability in an
underlying amount of electricity and the risk
that the entity would be required to buy
electricity during a delivery interval where it
cannot use it.

. Information about unrecognised contractual
commitments arising from such contracts.

. Qualitative and quantitative information
about the effects on the entity’s financial
performance for the reporting period interval
where it cannot use it.

The HKFRS 7 disclosure amendments must be
applied when the HKFRS 9 amendments are
applied. The clarifications regarding the ‘own use’
requirements must be applied retrospectively
without using hindsight, but the guidance permits
hedge accounting to be applied prospectively to
new hedging relationships designated on or after
the date of initial application. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes
a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information. Any cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated
in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable
to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
The amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7
and paragraphs IG1, 1G14 and IG20B of the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the
standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does
not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7
nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE B
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 MM EBERENRZ
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING EBMERSHER (&)

STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The
amendments clarify that when a lessee has
determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9,
the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix
A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion.
Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements: The amendments clarify that
the relationship described in paragraph B74
of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de
facto agents of the investor, which removes
the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE =)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (continued)

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition
of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date
fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHHE &)
(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill ERSHEEE (=)

(continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities
and assets includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEK =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24X EBEEHHE (&)
(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill EFESHEBE (=)

(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subseqguent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FTEBEEHHE (&)

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or
when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets, financial assets and non-current assets/
disposal groups classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B5tHE =)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHBR#®)
(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets FENEERE =&
(continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each REREHER > ISHGRE
reporting period as to whether there is an %ﬁﬂ%%@émLEEﬁEw

indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group
if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

©)

@i

(i)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)a person identified in (a)(i) has

significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group

of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B5tHE =)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 TESHHE =)
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and ME--BENRRKER
depreciation e

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-
line basis to write off the cost of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold Over the lease terms
improvements

Furniture, fixtures 20% to 33'/:%
and equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. S5 HER =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESSHHEK =)
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and ME--BENRKHA
depreciation (continued) e =)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Mobile applications are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B5tHE =)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 TESHHE =)
(continued)
Leases (continued) HE =)
Group as a lessee (continued) REBERAMBA (1)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BHEEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Properties 2 to 8 years
Equipment 24 months

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FTEBEEHHE (&)

(continued)

Leases (continued) s =)
Group as a lessee (continued) KREBFERAMN (B)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. BETHE =)
24 FTBSFTHER (&)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FTEBEEHHE (&)

(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages its
financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B5tHE =)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEBEHHE (=)
(continued) .
Financial assets (continued) ENEE =)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AFXFESSHTHE &)

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. S5TBER#E)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FBEHHE (=)
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets TMEERE =)
(continued)
General approach — R
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit JEHEEBED %m@%
exposures for which there has not been a B o BlE B EBLAKRE
significant increase in credit risk since initial R WEHBZIEINZE
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses REMS  BE e 5335
that result from default events that are possible RNREARNBELENS
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For HMmELECEEBE (1218
those credit exposures for which there has been BEEE®EE)sHEEH
a significant increase in credit risk since initial EEEIE - HIRBBETD
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit PIZREER BB E RIZN
losses expected over the remaining life of the BVEER R ﬂa@%‘;%’]ﬂ%?ﬁ
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (ZHHREHEEERE) RY
(a lifetime ECL). =R JBA@ATWDDEEHH
EXNEEHBsTRBIE
B
At each reporting date, the Group assesses BA WEBH  AEBFG
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument MTEHCEERRESA
has increased significantly since initial ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ@l%%%ﬁmgim"
recognition. When making the assessment, the PRAEHE G - AEBLR
Group compares the risk of a default occurring RESEBHERTEDIR
on the financial instrument as at the reporting ZENE RS HES E
date with the risk of a default occurring on R T EBIRENRR -
the financial instrument as at the date of initial WEEIJSERISZFA
recognition and considers reasonable and AERNERATE D
supportable information that is available without BR > OiFREPRAIERE
undue cost or effort, including historical and Bl o
forward-looking information.
The Group generally considers a financial asset PL—RITEMS - 86KY
(other than a trade receivable) in default for the M@ HOB K AEBE—
general approach when contractual payments RIRENEE (BIRINR
are 90 days past due. However, in certain BERIN) BEK - AT > £
cases, the Group may rebut the 90 days past ETEBERT  AEBTURE
due presumption of default for a particular CEEEBRECER (B
financial instrument based on reasonable and AREBEERRERE
supportable information, including the Group’s &% BB o0 B
credit risk control practices and the historical MTEBAEDOWE) » #
recovery rate of that financial instrument over BT/ T EBE0
90 days past due. Moreover, in certain cases, the BEVERMET o It ER
Group may also consider a financial asset to be LERT 28RN
in default when internal or external information ERBTRAEERNKT R
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the RERBAEEFBE 2T
outstanding contractual amounts in full before INREE LRI HU
taking into account any credit enhancements BRI ENRRRR - A%
held by the Group. A financial asset is written BNgREMEERER
off when there is no reasonable expectation of K o RS IEE A TIND
recovering the contractual cash flows. BNIREMRE  AIT/REE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets
(continued)
General approach (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage1 — Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for
which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

136 1C-P)

onk

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FESHBR#®)
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets

THEERE =)
(continued)
Simplified approach B
For trade receivables that do not contain a ¥J‘ﬁ\ji7ﬁ BEEARMEDD
significant financing component or when the DPRBEZRERINAE B
Group applies the practical expedient of not K%%E%Tzﬂﬂiﬁﬁﬁ
adjusting the effect of a significant financing E Dy EBcENRRE
component, the Group applies the simplified /o AEBSEABIDE
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the STEIRHEEBE - RIEB
simplified approach, the Group does not track % » REBUWARME
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a ERRCEE - IESRZH
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each SHHREZHEBEHES
reporting date. The Group has established a BIEEREERE - AEBE
provision matrix, or other applicable approaches, REHBABELCRHK (B8
that is based on its historical loss experience, HABRIINSEE R TS, BN
supplemented/substituted by relevant external R)RBIIBEREINEME
data, as appropriated, adjusted for current and R73%E > siEH A RKEE
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors RERFECSAIRAIEM
and the economic environment. At each reporting RRIEHFFE - RESBRSEHE
date, the historical loss experience/relevant H > B EIBER, TEEIIN
external information are updated and changes in WERBEBH WD ITH]IE

forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified,
at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings or

payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially
at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FTEBEEHHE (&)
(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued) ETRaeEE)

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other
payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in the statement of profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement
of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. B HE =)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESFHHE B
(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEED

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with
a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present
obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as
a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from
the passage of time is included in the statement
of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FTEBEEHHE (&)
(continued)
Income tax FRiS#H

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE =)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AFXESSTHE &)
(continued)
Income tax (continued) FRriSH (&)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHHE &)
(continued)
Income tax (continued) FRiS# (=)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HE =)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHE (=)

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 T EEHHE (&)
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued) YWk sR (=)
Revenue from contracts with customers EESMIKN G ()

(continued)
(a) Advertising revenues (a) BESIKA

Revenue from print advertising is generally
recognised at the point in time when
the print advertisement is published. For
programmatic advertising, revenues are
generally recognised as impressions are
delivered. Revenues from non-programmatic
digital advertising are generally recognised
over the period that the related products
or services are delivered/rendered, as the
customer simultaneously received and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group, or upon complete satisfaction of the
related performance obligation, such as, at
the point in time when the related product(s)
and/or service(s) are published or delivered/
rendered, based on the nature of the
products or services provided. Advertising
revenues are recognised net of provisions
for estimated sales incentives, including
rebates, rate adjustments or discounts, as
appropriate.

Incentive arrangement

Specific incentives may be offered to
certain customers once certain advertising
spending amount for the relevant period
exceeds particular threshold specified in the
relevant contracts. To estimate the expected
amount of incentives to be offered, which
in turn will affect the net consideration
that the Group will be entitled under the
arrangement, the Group applies the method
that it expects to better predict the amount.
The requirements on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied and a
liability relating to the expected incentives is
recognised as a reduction of revenues (i.e.,
the amount not included in the transaction
price), based on the total amount of
estimated expected incentives related
to the underlying revenue transactions
during the reporting period. Measurement
of such expected incentives is estimated
mainly based on historical experience,
current economic trends and accumulated
advertising spending to date.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

(b) Circulation revenues
Circulation revenues mainly include revenues
from sales/subscriptions of magazines and
books. Circulation revenue is based on the
number of copies of magazines and books
and/or digital subscriptions sold, and the
associated rates charged to the respective
customers, net of provisions for related
returns. Circulation revenue is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally
upon delivery of the magazines or books.
Revenue from subscriptions (including
digital subscriptions) is recognised over the
subscription term, generally as the printed or
digital publication is delivered.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

sHER (&)
EE‘%%H% ()
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment
is received or a payment is due (whichever
is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation
to refund some or all of the consideration
received (or receivable) from a customer and is
measured at the amount the Group ultimately
expects it will have to return to the customer. The
Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities
(and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

2. B HE =)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESFHHE B
(continued)
Employee benefits (continued) EBEER =)
Pension schemes (continued) RIKZ5E (#8)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary
which operates in Mainland China are required
to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiary is required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability
when they are approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously
proposed and declared, because the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association grant
the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)
Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or
income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial
transaction is the date on which the Group
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term
of a contract with a renewal option

The Group has a lease contract that includes an
extension option. At the commencement date of the
lease, the Group applied judgement in evaluating
whether or not to exercise the option to renew the
lease. That is, it considered all relevant factors that
create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise
the option to renew the lease.

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for a lease of its office premises due to the
significance of the office premises to its operations
and the significant leasehold improvements
undertaken (or expected to be undertaken) over the
term of the relevant lease contract that are expected
to have significant economic benefit for the Group
when the option to extend that lease becomes
exercisable.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BAEHIET G =)

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provision for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provision for reinstatement costs
associated with certain lease property attributable
to the Group based on the estimate of the expected
costs to be incurred to settle the relevant contractual
obligations under the terms of the lease at the
end of the reporting period, which are subject to
uncertainties and might differ from the actual costs
to be incurred. Significant judgements and estimates
are required, including, inter alia, making various
assumptions with reference to past experience and
available information to determine the expected costs
to be incurred. Further details are included in note 21
to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix, or other applicable
approaches, to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
Generally, the provision matrix is initially based on
the Group’s historical loss experience, supplemented/
substituted by relevant external data, as appropriate.
The Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical
loss experience/relevant external information with
current and forward-looking information. At each
reporting date, the historical loss experience/relevant
external information are updated and changes in
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
loss experience/relevant external information,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience/
relevant external information and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 16 to the financial
statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease
liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates.

New Media Lab Limited $TETE8/BE/2AT 2024 Annual Report R N3 HHHHH‘

3.

BEREBHHAE MG =)

st ARER M )
EBSENREC RAIGEEIRR
ff:t

REBG AR FEHEEIAEMER
DAt EEZBUIGRIE IR H
1@%@53@ ° _ﬂiﬁ:l %;ﬁfi%gﬁﬁ
DA R AREBBEEEERRE
¥ WHEESBR NUMEEEING
BT/ BN - KEERIE
el IV GEES RaS SVl Sl
IBERNKENRATEEER -
REWED - BEBECRE 18
BN ENZER - MATEMKLGS
St BEBHLIDHT -

HBABIEKR BRI E
B BHIEERRRRBEEE
Bkl EEBEEIEBIFTIG R —
BEXGE - BHREEBEENE
BRIRIER IR IR IR e 6 2 &)
T8  AEBNWELEEBEEKL
AR N E R RSB AR IR
AIMAMDAER—U=ZFREEH
BRENER BHAEBES
BIRIBEC REEEBECER
INECE SRR [Oh

HE - BEIEEE: ﬁ?fji

AEBEAIESZEEEHERME
SHAZR - WL - @ﬁﬁiggb %

MR (MBRERFR))STERES
88 - BEERNREZAEEMN
DR ERATBESZIT < ME - 1
MLV PR - RAERLIEHE
REPRSREPAEEEEBEN
ENEEMDASZNNER - KW

It IBEBRNERR TAEB
[fE2T ORI - EFETEHERA
RS (WA WESIRMERS 2
REBATIMS) REBHAERE
TRBEURRBE < (R
FRIBRIFBRIRGE - AEBRE

AIBSNABELSHERE
AU - WAFHE T RBSE
w8t -




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group principally focuses on digital and print
media businesses and magazine and book publishing.
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, focuses
on the operating results of the Group as a whole
as the Group’s resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment information is available.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from
external customers during the current and prior
years were attributed to Hong Kong based on the
location in which the relevant Group’s activities
which generated such revenues were carried out.

(b) Non-current assets
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets
as at the end of the respective reporting periods,
excluding financial instruments and deferred tax
assets, were located in Hong Kong based on the
location of the assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from respective external customers derived
from digital and print media businesses and magazine
and book publishing contributing over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for the respective years is
as follows:

Customer A =ZHEA

Revenue from Customer A includes revenue from
a group of entities which are known to be under
common control of Customer A.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Uq#s - E{thIfiA R Us

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WS DTa0 s -
Revenue from contracts with customers EFSHG
() Disaggregated revenue information (D DN ER

| 2024 [JEEERES

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fi& FETT
Types of goods or services ARIRIEELE
Digital advertising (other than #HFES
programmatic advertising) (ERILESERIN 181,646 183,030
Programmatic advertising ERIES 17,644 28,504
Total digital advertising HIRE SRR 199,290 21,534
Print advertising EDRIES 5,545 6,760
Circulation 217 2,392 2,591
Total revenue from contracts PSR
with customers 207,227 220,885
IS EEES——
Timing of revenue recognition WZSt&:BISRI
At a point in time HEFER 142,491 155,181
Over time fEE 5 64,736 65,704
Total revenue from contracts P EKINGR%E
with customers 207,227 220,885
eSS EEE——
The following table shows the amounts of TERIFIRBS DA
revenue recognised in the current reporting EREBRREBAEHERM
period that were included in the contract ERENSEMRARS
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period B ERIN =T -

and recognised from performance obligations
satisfied in previous periods:

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi&T FE7T
Revenue recognised that was  IRIBE AT AEK
included in contract liabilities  E&HNE @RI :
at the beginning of reporting
period:
Circulation $17 217 223
Digital advertising HI/ES 1,523 1,158

1,740 1,381
I
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

0

@in

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

5. Iz~ Hfith WA B Wi &

(&)

EFSHUE (&)

()

DM ER (#)

| 2024 | 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi& FET
Revenue recognised from RBERBEEWEL
performance obligations BEET I
satisfied in previous period:
Sale of goods not previously BRYZABRGBE
recognised due to constraints KEEHERIHEDZ D
on variable consideration - 19
IS EEE—
Performance obligations (i) EXET
Information about the Group’s performance BREALEEENEECE

obligations is summarised below:

Digital advertising (including programmatic
advertising)

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon the related services are performed or
products are delivered/published, or over time as
services are rendered, and payment is normally
due upon delivery or within 90 days from the
date of billing.

Print advertising

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon the print advertisement is published and
payment is generally due within 90 days from the
date of billing.

Circulation

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the magazines or books and
payment is generally based on terms agreed
by the relevant parties as set out in respective
agreements. For subscription revenue, payment
in advance or at the beginning of each relevant
period is normally required.

HH‘HHH 116  New Media Lab Limited BT &BRAT 2024 Annual Report £

Rtk
HHRES (BRERICES)

BNEE—RIRTHEE
RFZNANY S E B
NIRHERIE < HARRIET -
MY — BRI FRS
T QARSI 90 BAEIHES -

BRES

BREE— MR TR
BESEED > MYR—KRE
FHROHRET90 BT -

17

BRE L — RIRAAT M
FEEFEN > YR—RIR
BEERBETEBEEA
THEIERET - e B
WAMS » BEBBTIHR
SEEHRDIYR -




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Ifias~ E b Ut A & U 2%

(continued) (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFSHG =)

(continued)

(i) Performance obligations (continued) (i) EXEE(EB)
Practical expedient EXRE
As a practical expedient, the transaction EEWHRE L BREHR
prices allocated to the remaining performance BRENEETPRZBESH
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) —8D - MRBETHR
are not disclosed because all the remaining —FIHLLN  WIRIRED
performance obligations are part of respective EEEHBREBNSEE (RED
contracts that have an original expected duration HEPDKRETT) IR ZER o

of one year or less.

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi&T FET
Other income and gains HL{th I\ B W g
Bank interest income IRITA BULA 5,293 3,033
Accretion of interest on rental BEUHEFZEHN BRI
deposit paid 91 88
Government subsidies* B fBRG * 130 -
Commission income SR 194 138
Licensing of content ABETY 39 38
Sale of scraps HERER 44 46
Others Hib 752 1,087
6,543 4,430
* The government subsidies represented the * BUR a5 B IS BT AT
amounts received under the Reimbursement of BENIE N EERFINEE
Maternity Leave Pay Schedule of the Government BYRRIE - R S B R
of the Hong Kong Special Administration BIRETIRUHERETARER -

Region. There were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to the subsidies.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FR¥AHEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after REBBRRIVEF B IR (5t
charging/(crediting): AN ATIEIE -

| 2024 JEEREE

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

M5t FiET FBT

Cost of goods sold and EESREBIRHEEAM

other services rendered ARFF BV A 56,371 57,738

Depreciation of property, M=  BMERREITE

plant and equipment 13 4,677 4,356
Depreciation of right-of-use  [EHREBEITE

assets 14 9,976 12,270
Amortisation of intangible WP EEEE"

assets” 15 520 340
Lease payments not included kst ATHESESTEHY

in the measurement of lease SR

liabilities 14 96 164

Auditors’ remuneration B BB B <2 1,431 1,590

Listing expenses A= - 7,669

Employee benefit expense EERME< (BREES

(including directors’ and REZFTHAEDN
chief executive’s i (5E8)) -
remuneration (note 8)):
Salaries, bonuses, allowances & {64 * 2GR
and other benefits HigFl 99,900 97,479
Pension scheme RINE ST B
contributions* (defined (REHRETE)
contribution schemes) 3,528 3,422
Total fR5t 103,428 100,901
Reversal of impairment of BIZRINRIBRERED
trade receivables, net el 16 1,234) (1,186)
Write-off of items of property, $5Y)2E « =&
plant and equipment FirEE 15 -
Foreign exchange differences, J\&EZ=%8%%8
net (28) (26)

. The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is ~ THRRPEERBESTAGSIE
included in “Depreciation and amortisation” in the mic [ TEREE A -
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used * AEBWEIHEFRENR
by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing UL LRI PR IR IR B HEFRK T »
level of contributions. At 31 December 2024, the Group R2024F 128318 AEE
had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its 74 2 )3 WA TR O (30 580 2R 2K
contributions to the pension scheme(s) in future years FEZRINESIBIHIR (2023
(2023: Nib). &F ) -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCE COSTS

BITERNR
HESEMNZE

Interest on bank borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

SIS IRRMISE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE
7. AAERA
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
M5t Fi&x BT
- 581
14 2,742 3,185
2,742 3,766

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”),
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8.§$&I§ﬁﬂkém

AEE  RESBHESRINE
RAD ([B32FR)) 555 EhRAl
(TEmMA ) - BSELDERE

383(MH() * (b) * () R(HIE K
BN (REEENHER) R
PE 2B CEBREBITH
AEZBEW T -

HK$’000 HK$°000

Fi&T FET

Fees BE 990 486

Other emoluments: Hi

Salaries, allowances and other Frw R REMBH

benefits 2,112 2,112

Discretionary bonus BY S TEHRL 3,000 -

Pension scheme contributions RINESTEIHR 18 18

Subtotal INGT 5,130 2,130

Total fees and other emoluments #2& RE M R%8 6,120 2,616

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

Ms. Cheng Ka Yu =BT
Mr. Mak Kam Chiu E=Siikilbaas
Mr. Niu Zhongjie 488505

Save as disclosed above, there were no other
emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MFERRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. ESERTETHASH

REMUNERATION (continued) FT=)
(b) Executive directors and the chief b TESERETETH
executive AB

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and other  Discretionary scheme Total

benefits bonus contributions remuneration
AN s
REfHER Bt sHEIfE A ]
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$:000 HK$°000 HK$°000
&7 T&n T&n T&r T&n

2024 2024

Executive directors: ifEs:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai ETELE 150 . - . 150

Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce* Bt 150 2,112 3,000 18 5,280

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa BERLT 150 - - - 150

Total o5t 450 2,112 3,000 18 5,580
I IS IS NS

2023 2023

Executive directors: ifEs:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai BUETE 69 - - - 69

Mr. Lee Yat Pui, Royce* TRk 69 2112 - 18 2,199

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa BERTT 69 - - - 69

Total @5t 207 2112 - 18 2,337
I S IS SN

* Chief executive officer * TEURE

There was no arrangement under which a FA > WESSEHITBHRE

director or the chief executive officer waived or N EAE=E R )

agreed to waive any remuneration during the 25k o

year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hEREHER

The five highest paid employees during the year TR hEEeHEEBSFE 3
included one (2023: one) director, details of whose (2023F : —) ES > HiflE
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of SEBHEIR LEXMEES - % NUIF
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2023F : (UR) WIEARANDE
(2023: four) highest paid employees who are neither EVNIFEBITHAECRSF B
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as ERFTALMEFBU T :
follows:

HK$°000 HK$°000

Fi&r FB7T
Salaries, allowances and other i R REMIBA)
benefits 5,940 5,476
Discretionary bonuses BBETEHL 1,21 688
Pension scheme contributions RINE ST EIHE 72 72
Total BEt 7,223 6,236
&b |
The number of non-director and non-chief executive FHMNFLTHECIFEET RIE
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell F2IOBRAECRSFHEE A

within the following bands is as follows: gah

Number of employees

EBEAZ

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 87TE

1,500,0008 7% - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 8705

2,000,0008 7T 3 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 8%

2,500,0008 7T 1 -
Total Rt 4 4
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RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

10. INCOME TAX 10. FRiGH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate RAFER  FBMNERIDA
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable BB EL L ERR RN ZR
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. 2R16.5% (20234 : 16.5% ) /EH
B3 -
For the subsidiary in Mainland China, Corporate MBI BT M

IRAEE%L25% (2023 F -
5%) 2 RARFHRCEMERE

| 2024 JEERES

HK$’000 HK$°000

Income Tax has been provided at the rate of 25%
(2023: 25%) for the year.

=N 0l

FiET FET
Current — Hong Kong Bl —&8
Charge for the year FAZH 2,019 4,349
Under/(over)provision in prior BETERBERE
years (HBEEE ) a7 100
Current — Mainland China BNE —hE it
Charge for the year FAZH 63 65
Overprovision in prior years BEFE BRI (64) 12)
Deferred (note 22) AT (Hf5£22) (1,093) 157)
Total tax charge for the year ATERBZ LR 908 4,345
EEEEESE—— EE——
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRi8% (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to BRARIYREKRLOHIE LRI
profit before tax at the statutory profits tax rate for ER/UEMRE B2 EEHNE
Hong Kong in which the Company and the majority MASTECBRARERRBIRMN <
of its subsidiaries operate and/or are domiciled to the MBS > BBEEERRAFTEZ
tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: mIBFESHRW T :

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi&T FET
Profit before tax PR RIS A 14,399 18,870
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory  12&8ETRE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (20237 : 16.5%) 5t&E 2
G| 2,376 3114
Effect of different tax rate BINEBRERAERR
enacted by overseas authority B & 161) azn
Adjustments in respect of BT ABRI R IBRE
current tax of previous periods (81 88
Effect on deferred tax of MIFER BB EIE LR IB
change in tax legislation By & (1,082) -
Income not subject to tax HERBRBA (873) (500)
Expenses not deductible for tax TT?D@%i 699 1,446
Tax losses utilised from previous E)FEAF AR VR IEEE
periods (5) -
Tax losses not recognised KEDBRIBGIE - 399
Others HAb 35 (3N
Tax charge at the Group’s BAEEERRARFTER
effective tax rate RIEZH 908 4,345
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RS ISR RMISE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE
11. DIVIDENDS n.
Interim — HK1.67 cents (2023: P —=FREER1.67 81
HK$500) per ordinary share (20234 : 50087T)

Proposed final — HK2.5 cents BEA-—SREBR
(2023: HK1.2 cents) per ordinary 2.5/l (20234 :

share 1.25810)

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders
(“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share
amounts is based on the profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
of HK$13,491,000 (2023: HK$14,525,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
600,000,000 outstanding during the year (2023:
519,041,096, as adjusted retrospectively to reflect the
capitalisation issue of the Company during that year
(note 23(b))).

In determining the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended
31 December 2023, the capitalisation issue of the
Company during that year, as further detailed in note
23(b) to the financial statements, was deemed to
have completed on 1 January 2023.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares

in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. B/\SIZBRRiESk B

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF ABEERET &)
THE PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per BREARBERINGTELDE

share are based on:

Earnings

g
a2¥

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi&T FET
Profit attributable to ordinary STEEREAREERT
equity holders of the parent, FTRENEATEBRED
used in the basic and diluted B ARG
earnings per share calculations 13,491 14,525
EEEE——

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary

*

Az o

Number of shares

Rin®E

STREEREARM SR MR

shares outstanding during the year AREERTHEINSBERE
used in the basic and diluted earnings I

per share calculations.

As adjusted retrospectively to reflect the capitalisation

issue of the Company during that year.

600,000,000 519,041,096*
I

* EBMREEURRANTRZ
FEETCEREET -
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. M2 ~ BRE P58
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment
7 BERE
HERe S &
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
31 December 2024 2024F12RA318
At 1 January 2024: [R2024F1818 ¢
Cost AN 22,872 10,048 32,920
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (7,217) (5,862) (13,079)
Net carrying amount REZE 15,655 4,186 19,841
& . |
At 1 January 2024, net of [R2024F1818 -
accumulated depreciation NRREHNE 15,655 4,186 19,841
Additions ne 481 447 928
Write-off Hss - (15) (15)
Depreciation provided during FRTERE
the year (2,895) (1,782) (4,677)
Exchange realignment b R FH R - (26) (26)
At 31 December 2024, net of R2024F128318 -
accumulated depreciation RREHNE 13,241 2,810 16,051
& . |
At 31 December 2024: R2024E128318 :
Cost WA 23,353 10,240 33,593
Accumulated depreciation RETIE (10,112) (7,430) (17,542)
Net carrying amount EEFE 13,241 2,810 16,051
& . |
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. 12 ~ R/E Mkl (=)

(continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Total

B BEEE

HEEE EL Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBIT FET
31 December 2023 2023%F12A318
At 1 January 2023 182023 F1818 :
Cost DN 22,841 8,665 31,506
Accumulated depreciation REHITE (4,359) (4,537) (8,896)
Net carrying amount REEE 18,482 4128 22,610
EEEE——
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1818 >
accumulated depreciation HRREHTE 18,482 4128 22,610
Additions e 27 1,566 1,593
Depreciation provided during FRITERRE
the year (2,854) (1,502) (4,356)
Exchange realignment PE R TR 6) (6)
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023E128318 -
accumulated depreciation HRRETITE 15,655 4186 19,841
EEE—
At 31 December 2023: R2023F128318 :
Cost A 22,872 10,048 32,920
Accumulated depreciation REHITE (7,217) (5,862) (13,079)
Net carrying amount EEFE 15,655 4,186 19,841
EEEEEEEE IS EEE——
14. LEASES 14. 86
The Group as a lessee AEBERKEA

AEEBHBESPEANSEY
X FESRREBEEESH K
EHENHEABRER24E8
MPENEBBER2ESTF -
EBESERETNENERR12E
BZBA -

The Group has lease contracts for various properties,
carparks and items of equipment used in its
operations. Leases of equipment generally have a
lease term of 24 months, while properties generally
have lease terms between 2 and 8 years. Carparks
and certain properties have lease terms of 12 months
or less.
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REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

14. A8 (&)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as

follows:

As at 1 January 2023
Modifications
Depreciation charge

As at 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Depreciation charge
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2024

(b) Lease liabilities

AEBERKBEA (&)
(a) 1BFFEEE
TRAEBGERREEES
[REEREEHFIWT :
Properties Equipment Total
/S ki fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
R2023%E1518 60,234 2,555 62,789
EFN 1,179 388 1,567
e (9,838) (2,432) (12,270)
R2023F122318K
2024F 1818 51,575 511 52,086
HEZH (9,720) (256) (9,976)
PE QA 69 - 69
R2024%F128318 41,924 255 42,179
(b) HEEEF

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January

Lease modifications
Accretion of interest

recognised during the year

Payments
Exchange realignment

Carrying amount at
31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

Lease liabilities repayable:

Within one year
In the second year

In the third to fifth years,

inclusive
Beyond five years

Fr - AESENRBER
HEBEN T

HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi& F87T
RIB1VBrEBE 54,486 63,492
HEIEN - 1,567
FERFERA 20
2,742 3,185
INE (12,220) (13,758)
PE R FHEE 66 -
R12B3IIBCEBE
45,074 54,486
Al IV
FENEL D 9,426 9,412
JERENZL D 35,648 45,074
[EEEHEaE
—1F 9,426 9,412
F_F 9,254 9,426
BE—FFENTF
(BIEEEME) 26,394 29,357
hF#E - 6,291
45,074 54,486

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. fHE &)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERRBEA (=)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in () RERDPEDEBESC
relation to leases are as follows: TR N -

| 2024 [JEEERES

HK$’000 HK$°000

FiET FETT
Interest on lease liabilities HESBENZ 2,742 3,185
Depreciation charge of REEETER>
right-of-use assets 9,976 12,270
Lease payments not included Kt AHEEESTE
in the measurement of lease BEENR (GTAEM
liabilities (included in other sz - JFER)
expenses, net) 96 164
Total amount recognised in FRIB @ PSR < iR 2R
profit or loss 12,814 15,619
&b |
(d) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in (d) HECREMBRBRY
note 26(c) to the financial statements. RN T 26(c)IRE -
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. M, EE

Mobile
applications
mENERER

HK$’000
FETT
31 December 2024 2024 F128318
Cost at 1 January 2024, [R2024F1/818 WA
net of accumulated amortisation FOBR RETEESE 256
Additions — acquired separately NE —ERUIE 1,842
Amortisation provided during the year GNP 572 (520)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%F1285318 1,578
At 31 December 2024: R2024F 128318 :
Cost (DN 3,513
Accumulated amortisation RETETE (1,935)
Net carrying amount R@mFE 1,578
31 December 2023 2023128318
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1818
Cost A 1,483
Accumulated amortisation RETH#EE (1,075)
Net carrying amount EEPE 408
——
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of [R2023F1H18 WA
accumulated amortisation R REHEE T 408
Additions — acquired separately e — BRI E 188
Amortisation provided during the year T EE (340)
At 31 December 2023 [R2023F 125318 256
——
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 128318 R
at 1 January 2024: jR2024F1 818 -
Cost A 1,671
Accumulated amortisation RETEETH (1,415)
Net carrying amount R@EE 256
——
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. B AU TRIE

Trade receivables B2 EINRIE
Impairment R
Net carrying amount E@EFEE

The Group’s trading terms/settlement arrangements
with its customers are generally based on specific
contractual terms or in accordance with specific
arrangements/trade practices with reference to
their historical payment records and/or business
relationships, which might include payment in
advance, payment upon delivery/service rendered
or with credit period extending up to 90 days.
Settlements of circulation revenues from sales
of magazine are generally made by respective
distributors to the Group around 10 days after
the verification of the quantity of magazines sold.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding trade receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed by management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables at 31
December 2023 were amounts due from members
of the Emperor Group other than members of a
group in which AY Holdings was the ultimate holding
company (“AY Holdings Group”) (“Other Members of
the Emperor Group”) of approximately HK$211,000
as at 31 December 2023, which were unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
trade receivables, with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$50 million, were pledged to secure
a bank loan facility granted to the Group.
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HK$’000 HK$°000

Fi&x FBT

58,490 66,495
(2,523) (3,832)

55,967 62,663
I

AEBHRAZFZESZHRR TG
SR —REZFESKERRAR
BRERH EREMN £2F
B2 BN R IR, TNER
B35 - TREBIEAIUR  RBHE
B/ RBEERINEEBRLERE
E®908 - REHEMFAE
TIA—RIREBEEHTHE
BIOBRBSIDHEBOAE
BE5E - AEBHRNOCES
FRIRIBHERS BRAS 2] < B HRHG
HREBEBIEBRGY - NEBWHER
HEWNEZRBRERITBIELTE
HoAEMDAEERR - ES

R2023F 128318 - AEBE
SREINRIBEDEIFER2023F12
BIBRNEZ2EERES (FR5
DRMEELERREDPRERMIER
NINEERELT (BB
EEZRER) I ((REEE
Htapk8]) < RIEX 21,0008
U ZEREREER  2ER
BIRBKIEE -

R2023F 128318 - AEBE
B {EK50,000,000/8TT2%5
TEZEBINANRBEEEIBERALE
BERRTENRNECEBR -




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. BZEIERIA (&)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 1 month REIE
1to 3 months 12 3@H
3 to 6 months 3I26EH
Over 6 months IEE -

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year READ

Reversal of impairment, RERED - JFER (KEEe)
net (note 6)

Amount written off as WEER AN OBYEER
uncollectible

At end of year RER

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix, or other applicable
approach, to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are generally based on days past
due. The calculation mainly reflects, as appropriate,
reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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ERFEZBHRIOREERE
% IR SHROESZRBURIE
BRES DITR0 T

| 2024 JEERES

HK$’000 HK$°000

FiET +ET
17,912 26,435
22,264 21,342
12,044 1,327
3,747 3,559
55,967 62,663

£ 53 FE U R B 0L (8 54 i i 1
ST

| 2024 JEEEREE

HK$°’000 HK$°000

FET T87T

3,832 5100

(1,234) (1,186)
@75) (82)

2,523 3,832
|

RIRSBRERRREEIHE
WERSASTERBEREHE
DUETRIE DT - BB —RIZ
BABEE - BRESIELE2ERR
RS BHMBERBESH - BAl
RS R AR AL IR IR A2 512
RISZRHERN -
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

16.

17.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 16. BRAEWRIA (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk PIT SV EEAEEE ZEUIR
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: BrEERR<ER
As at 31 December 2024 22024128318
Current to
pastdue Pastdue Pastdue Pastdue Pastdue
less than 1to3 3to6 6to9 over9 Credit-
Tmonth  months months months months impaired
RS
bl L a1 L i
DRIER 1Z23fR 3Z6fBR 6Z9fER 9ERNL EEERE
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEER 115%  2.08%  451% 1251% 6225%  100%  4.31%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) %%EE@E(F‘)%TE) 25,061 18,780 10,762 2,654 543 690 58,490
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEESE(TET) 288 390 485 332 338 690 2,523
As at 31 December 2023 [R2023F 125318
Current to
pastdue Pastdue Pastdue Pastdue Pastdue
less than Tt0 3 3to6 6to9  over9  Credit-
Tmonth  months  months  months  months impaired Total
JEIk R
al alf Bl i al i
DIBER 123ER 3ZE6BE 62987 9BRMUL BEEHE 5t
Expected credit loss rate BHESEER 1.22% 2.28% 461%  1092%  62.04% 100% 5.76%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REB(E (TET) 26763 21840 1874 2858 2666 494 66495
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEHE(TET) 327 498 547 312 1654 494 3832
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17. FA{YRRIE - S K H it
RECEIVABLES FEULFRIR

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi&E FET
Prepayments YEIIRIB 3,053 2,581
Deposits and other receivables Bo RAMEBIRIE 4,257 4,645
7,310 7,226
Less: Non-current portion B FERENE D (3,074) (2,983)
Current portion MmENE D 4,236 4,243
IS EE——
The financial assets included in the above balances ST A L iE A 0)E R0 E A HR T B
relate to receivables for which there was no recent 74 55 K2 KU FD 3E A sRIB BV B U
history of significant default and past due amounts. RIBEERE - 182023 F K 2024
As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the loss allowance F128318 - EBBGBER
was assessed by management to be minimal. ERMAEE °
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 1BREMREZFEVMRE
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT HIPSRIT R

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FBETT
Cash and bank balances RERIRITHBER 18,081 14,341
Time deposits ERTER 132,716 129,197
Subtotal INEt 150,797 143,538
Less: Pledged bank deposit B BIEIBRITER (800) (800)
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 149,997 142,738
IS
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are AREENIRERIBESEYW IO
denominated in the following currencies: TAEMETHE :

HK$°000 HK$°000

Fi& FET
HK$ BT 148,936 141,559
RMB PNE: 936 1,054
Others Hh 125 125
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 149,997 142,738
The RMB is not freely convertible into other ARBATBHIRRAEME
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign W R IRIBPBR M2 INE
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration BEIENRIGHE EERNES
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign BIRE  AEEREETBERE
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to EITINEZXEFFCIRITRARKER
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks RRAEMEK -
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates ETENIRIRTNIRETENF
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time RBIAR - ARIRIBEBEIRT
deposits are made for varying periods of between one GEARNRGTE - MBPTHERD
day and three months depending on the immediate EREBHE—KE=BHAFE IR
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at Y AREEPRIFIRERTRME
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank W% 550 # 7E 88 5 SRR 28 e BRI
balances and pledged bank deposit are deposited S RTBHBEPEBRITER
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of DERITWEENCREES
default. REC#RIT -
The Group’s credit card facilities have been secured [R2024F 128318 » XEE
by the pledge of certain bank deposit of the Group LERFEEMUREB RS
amounting to HK$800,000 (2023: HK$800,000) as 75 800,000 7T (2023 1F =
at 31 December 2024, 800,000/87T) & T iRITHE R

TR -
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

19. TRADE PAYABLES 19. BRETRIA
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end EREZ[H  RBSHEKRES
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is FEIT RIBBVARET D ATU0 T -
as follows:

| 2024 [JEEERES

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fi& FEBT
Less than 30 days 30 KIA 4,235 6,140
30 to 90 days 30%E 90K 234 224
More than 90 days 90K = 107 34
4,576 6,398
EEEEEse— EE——
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are %?%E’%N%Wﬁ?%%uﬁ ARAST
normally settled on 30 to 90-day terms. FI0R90KRHIBGE
20.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. HithfE(UMIA M FESH B
H

Notes HK$°000 HK$000

luEza Fi&x BT
Contract liabilities ==L (a) 3,528 1,749
Other payables and accruals* HiENRIER (b)
[Est &R~ 20,960 18,547
Total REt 24,488 20,296
[ =
* Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals * AEEBHMENRERESE
are amounts due to the members of the AY Holdings BeBRENESMERTERE
Group, and directors of the Company, of approximately BoeMERILUIERALNTE
HK$1,645,000 (2023: HK$300,000) and HK$248,000 =2 RIBDB#1,64500078
(2023: HK$248,000), respectively. These balances 75 (20234 : 300,00058 1)
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on 5248,000 87T (20237 :
demand. 248, OOO/%TE) cHERBHR
IR RERBGEEKEE -
Notes: Hyét
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) BHNBEFBOT:
KR TSI T 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
2024 £ 20231 2023%%F
12A318 128318 1818
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fi& BT FB7T
Payments received in FAUNRIE «
advance:
Circulation #17 183 217 223
Digital advertising SR ES 3,345 1,532 1,287
Total contract liabilities SHEERR 3,528 1,749 1,510
L ]
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

20.

21.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) (continued)

Contract liabilities include short-term advances
received from customers relating to circulation and
digital advertising. The increase in contract liabilities
in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to short-term
advances received from customers in relation to digital
advertising near the end of the respective years.

(b) Included in the Group’s other payables at 31 December

2024 was an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$73,000 (2023: HK$342,000) in connection with
the additions of property, plant and equipment.

Save as the amounts due to related parties as detailed
above, other payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 30 to 90-day terms.

PROVISION

Pursuant to the terms of relevant tenancy agreements,
the Group, as the lessee of certain properties, has the
obligations to reinstate certain leased properties to
their original state or to a condition as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

Provision for reinstatement costs

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made
by management of the Group with reference to,
inter alia, past experience and available information.
The assumptions and estimates are reviewed and
revised, where appropriate, at least at the end of each
reporting period.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

22. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year
are as follows:

22.

3R HE 751 IR
FR - RARBEEZ ST

Deferred tax assets IRIEFRIREBE
Depreciation
in exceed of
related
depreciation
allowance/
(depreciation
allowance in
excess of Impairment
related of trade
depreciation) Provision  receivables Others Total
bigeberil
ERE/
(ERRRE RN
1BBIAE) ] FERE it gt
Note HK$000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$:000
il FET F&1 F&7 &7 FET
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1818 (255) - 763 - 508
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ~ FRREES /(1)
to profit or loss during the year X EILRE 10 314 - (232) 75 157
At 31 December 2023 and R2023E2F3BR
1January 2024 2041518 59 - 531 75 665
Deferred tax credited/(charged)  ERREZIA/ (1K)
to profit or loss during the year ~ ELRE 10 280 1,082 (229) (40) 1,093
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12E318 339 1,082 302 35 1,758

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$33,480,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$33,508,000), that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
arising in Hong Kong of the companies in which the
losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these tax losses due to the unpredictability
of the future taxable profits streams of the
subsidiaries in which the tax losses arose and it is
currently not considered probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

23.ISSUED CAPITAL 23.BHITKRAX
Shares A% {5

HK$°000 HK$°000

Fi& FET
Authorised: ER
1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 &
(2023:1,000,000,000) (20234 -
ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 %)
HK$0.01 each BREEO0.01/8TZ
ZERr 10,000 10,000
IS
Issued and fully paid: BRORMZE:
600,000,000 600,000,000 &
(2023: 600,000,000) (20234 -
ordinary shares of 600,000,000 &)
HK$0.01 each BREEO0.01/E8TZ
Z|R 6,000 6,000
IS EEE——
A summary of movements in the Company’s KNG AEERBETRAEE)
authorised and issued share capital is as follows: BT -
Number of
shares Amount
BRin#E &8
Notes HK$'000
HrEt TET
Authorised: ER:
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1818 5,000,000 50
Creation of additional authorised 1253 B9\ ER B
shares (a) 995,000,000 9,950
At 31 December 2023, R2023F128318 -
1 January 2024 and 2024118 R
31 December 2024 2024F 128318 1,000,000,000 10,000
IS EE—
Issued and fully paid: EZOTRTBHMR:
At 1 January 2023 [R2023F1818 20,000 -
Capitalisation issue ERICET (b) 449,980,000 4,500
Issues of new shares pursuant to  IRER D &EERTHRD
a share offer (c) 150,000,000 1,500
At 31 December 2023, 1R2023F 1258318
1 January 2024 and 2024118 R
31 December 2024 2024F128318 600,000,000 6,000
IS EE—
* Amount less than HK$1,000 * 4 721,00087T0
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23. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)
Notes:

@

)

©

Pursuant to the written resolution of the Shareholders
passed on 26 June 2023, the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased from HK$50,000
divided into 5,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to
HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each, by the creation of an additional
995,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each, ranking pari
passu in all respects with the existing shares of the
Company.

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Shareholders
passed on 26 June 2023, 449,980,000 ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each were allotted
and issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way of
capitalisation from the share premium account to
the Shareholders on a pro-rata basis (“capitalisation
issue”). This allotment and capitalisation issue were
conditional on the share premium account of the
Company being credited with the proceeds from the
issue of new shares of the Company in connection with
a share offer of the Company as detailed in note (c)
below.

In connection with a share offer of the Company
(including a placing and a public offer), 150,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price
of HK$0.92 per share for a total cash consideration,
before share issue expenses, of approximately
HK$138,000,000.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

24.SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Share options
The Company has adopted a share option scheme
(“Scheme”) on 26 June 2023. The major terms of the
Scheme are summarised as follows:

1. Purpose of the Scheme
To enable the Company to grant options to
eligible participants to subscribe for shares in
the Company as incentive to encourage the
eligible participants to perform their best in
achieving goals for the Group or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

2. Eligibility
Eligible participants include employees (whether
full time or part time), including any directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme
(a) Total number of shares available for issue as
at 27 March 2025 (i.e,, the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements)
under the Scheme: 60,000,000 shares

(b) Percentage of the issued shares that it
represents as at the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements: 10%
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

24 .SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Share options (continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible

participant under the Scheme

(@) not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue in
any 12-month period unless approved by the
Shareholders; and

(b) options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors of
the Company or their respective associates
in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of
the shares in issue must be approved by the
Shareholders.

Period within which the option may be exercised
by the grantee under the Scheme

At any time from the date of acceptance of the
option to such a date determined by the board
of directors of the Company (“Board”) but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of
grant.

Vesting period of options granted under the
Scheme

In any event shall not be less than 12 months
unless otherwise determined by the Board (or
the Remuneration Committee of the Company
where the grantee is a director and/or senior
management).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

24.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Share options (continued)
7. (a) Price payable on application or acceptance
of the option: HK$1.00;

(b) The period within which payments or calls
must or may be made: Within 28 days from
the date of grant; and

(c) Period within which loans for such purposes
of the payments or calls must be repaid: Not
applicable.

8. Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board
(subject to adjustment) and will not be less than
the highest of (a) the closing price of the share
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

9. The remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on its effective
date, being 17 July 2023.

During the year, no option was outstanding, granted,

exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme
(2023: NiD.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MIE IR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

25. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 65 of the financial statements.

Other reserves
The other reserves were mainly arising from:

€))

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

the differences between the aggregate amount
of issued capital and share premium of the
relevant subsidiaries and the nominal value of an
entity’s shares issued for the acquisition thereof
in prior periods;

the acquisition of additional 15% equity interest in
a subsidiary from a non-controlling shareholder in
2006 and was deemed as a capital contribution;

the current accounts waived by the then
immediate holding company as a result of the
deregistration of certain subsidiaries in prior
periods;

the deemed contribution arising from the
discounting of a non-current interest-free loan
from the then immediate holding company in
prior periods; and

the difference between the nominal amount of
the issued capital of New Media Group Limited
and the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange therefor pursuant
to a reorganisation in 2021.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MFERRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

26.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 26.{rESHRERERME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions @) EBFRERXR
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the REE2023F 128318 1
Group had non-cash lease modifications resulting FE  ANEBFHIFRETHE
in a net increase in right-of-use assets of SN SRYERRKIER
approximately HK$1,567,000 and lease liabilities SRFCEREEEFIE
of approximately HK$1,567,000, respectively, in 10%91,567,000 BT REE
respect of lease arrangements for properties and BEBN0%1,567,000 87T °
equipment.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from b)REEHFREEZE
financing activities {EE)

Interest-
Lease bearing bank

liabilities borrowings
HEGE SRRETER

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
2024 2024 %
At 1 January 2024 R2024F 1818 54,486 -
Changes from financing cash flows #EIRETAHAESEE) (12,220) -
Interest expense NEEX 2,742 -
Exchange realignment PERFHE 66 -
At 31 December 2024 1820247123318 45,074 -
I EE—
2023 2023%E
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1818 63,492 21,000
Changes from financing cash flows BBRETRELH) (13,758) (21,000)
Lease modifications HEBNR 1,567 -
Interest expense NEEx< 3,185 -
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 128310 54,486 -
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZRERBEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in SEARGSRETAERNAE
the consolidated statement of cash flows is as SRTALMEBUT -
follows:
HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi&T FEBT
Within operating activities KEEHNEHE 96 164
Within financing activities RETBEE 12,220 13,758

12,316 13,922
I
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

27. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED 27. MRS AT (B RREE
PARTIES (INCLUDING OTHER MEMBERS BEMKE)ETZRR
OF THE EMPEROR GROUP)

(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements (@) BREZSFUFERKEMMS
and balances detailed elsewhere in these Prstii o225 ~ LY RIS
financial statements, the Group had the following AN REBRAFEE LI
transactions with related parties during the year: DB RRF -

Note HK$’000 HK$°000
luEza Fi&x BT

Other members of the GEREEERER

AY Holdings Group Hitupk 8
Reimbursements of BT
administrative expenses O] 3,440 1,121
IS EEE——

Note: M5t -

(i) The amounts charged were with reference to the () WHRCHBHSEMNE
costs incurred. E A o

(b) The Group had the following transactions with (b) RER  AEERHEE2EEH
Other Members of the Emperor Group during the HMMEBU RS -
year:

| 2024 2023

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

s Fi&r &

Advertising income BEBRA O] 209 1,280
Production costs and BERAREDRIARA

printing costs (i) 215 279

Consultancy fee BEE (i) 240 10

Sponsor fee RES (iv) - 565

Underwriting fee BiEEH ) = 3,795

Overall coordinator’s fee HERBHANER (vi) - 690

IEEEESS  EE——

Notes: Miat -

(i) Advertising income was charged based on terms () ESWADREMEEA
as agreed by the relevant parties as set out in T E 2 I FRULER
respective agreements.

(i) Production costs and printing costs were charged (i) EERAREDRBIAARND
based on terms as agreed by the relevant parties MBS N B EVIE
as set out in respective agreements. FRULEN o

(iii) Consultancy fee paid for financial advisory (i) M BBERERBE N2
services was charged based on terms as agreed BREBDRESHBEMN
by the relevant parties as set out in respective A N RBE 2 F
agreements. FRUSCER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMIEMRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

27. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED
PARTIES (INCLUDING OTHER MEMBERS
OF THE EMPEROR GROUP) (continued)

(b) (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv) An Other Member of the Emperor Group had
been appointed as one of the joint sponsors
for the initial public offer of the shares of the
Company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange pursuant to an engagement letter for
a total agreed sponsor fee of HK$1,650,000.
The total amount of such sponsor fee incurred
was approximately HK$1,650,000, of which
approximately HK$565,000 was charged to profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(v) An underwriting commission paid for the share
offer of the Company was charged by an Other
Member of the Emperor Group pursuant to an
underwriting agreement entered into with that
Other Member of the Emperor Group.

(vi) An overall coordinator’s fee paid for the share
offer of the Company was charged by an Other
Member of the Emperor Group pursuant to an
agreement entered into with that Other Member
of the Emperor Group.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of

the Group:

Short term employee benefits 42 RS TEH

Post-employment benefits %EH‘JM%T@%J

Total compensation paid to key Y H%F+EEIEAEH
management personnel e HEES

Further details of directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 28. AR NNEMTH
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBEHR > SEBTRITER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting FREmEWLT :

period are as follows:

Financial assets EMEE

HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi&ET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost: (&85 AD| iR~
TREBE :
Trade receivables BIRINRIE 55,967 62,663
Financial assets included in SEABRNRE - BER
prepayments, deposits and HAEUNRIEBY
other receivables ETREE 4,257 4,645
Pledged bank deposit BIEBRTER 800 800
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 149,997 142,738
211,021 210,846
E——
Financial liabilities ZRSE
| 2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
FiET FB7T
Financial liabilities at B SENAYR
amortised cost: TRIBE -
Trade payables B2 ENIRIB 4,576 6,398
Financial liabilities included in STAEMBENRIBER
other payables and accruals [ESTERANET/MERE 13,242 12,046
Lease liabilities HEBE 45,074 54,486

62,892 72,930
EE—
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RITE RRMISE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

29.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 29.EMTENAFERAD

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities reasonably approximated to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumption were used to
estimate the fair values:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposit, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade payables, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals reasonably approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities/
repayable on demand of these instruments or the
effect of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the non-current deposit has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS R H IR MIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include
lease liabilities, pledged bank deposit and cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, trade payables, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
which mainly arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under
review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial
instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The management of the Group reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s time
deposits.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit
before tax (through the impact on time deposits).

2024 2024 %
HK$ BT
2023 2023 F
HK$ BIT
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. ARERBERERE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) RE)

Credit risk E8mE

The Group mainly transacts on credit with recognised/ AEETEMERT EEEE
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy LEZTETEBRS - AEH

that customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to certain credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2024

KBRRBRAEEHRRETES
LBRPIAKLBE TEEKER
5 o AN - BIGRIERE 82 DR K5

RARRN O R ERBZR
TEREFIR12BIBREAE
BEEBRNEEERRMAS
NRAXEERRE RIFEFIH
ANEBRATE DO ESEHAM
BR - SAIFZERBEBEER)
RERBERDIE - 2 2FBR
EREEC IR -

182024 F12A318

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12BR %N
EEER 2HRHESER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
SR B 2pEER B3R BiLHE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FErn FET FET FET
Trade receivables* EFRINNE" - - - 58,490 58,490
Financial assets included in ST ABNE
prepayments, deposits BEREMER
and other receivables RENENEE
— Normal** -8~ 4,257 - = = 4,257
Pledged bank deposit BEBRIEN
— Not yet past due - HREH 800 - - - 800
Cash and cash equivalents ~ BERETSEY)
— Not yet past due - ﬁﬁk,ﬁﬁ 149,997 - - - 149,997
155,054 - - 58,490 213,544
e ge————as
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 ABEEERRE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) RE)
Credit risk (continued) EERMEE (=)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RAREW O RFEFEEZR (&)
As at 31 December 2023 [22023F128318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12@EFEH
EEBE 2HRBESEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FBER F2BR FIBR BlD% Rt

HK$000  HK$000 ~  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T&T TETL TEL BT T&TL

Trade receivables® EZRIE - - - 66,495 66,495
Financial assets included in S AFETEIE -

prepayments, deposits %E REMEN

and other receivables FENERNEE

— Normal** -8~ 4,645 - - - 4,645
Pledged bank deposit PEBRRIEN

— Not yet past due - axa# 800 - - - 800

Cash and cash equivalents  RERREZE!)

— Not yet past due — EREH 142,738 - - - 142,738
148,183 - - 66,495 214,678
g

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * ?EK%%?‘%FH%M?@@%E%
simplified approach for impairment, information based ECEBIZRINNREMS @ RIF
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 16 to the BB EEE e BRI
financial statements. KMFEE 165 -

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included »* BIARNURE R REME
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is IWANEREENEEBESH
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due FEHBFERBRIES] WA
and there is no information indicating that the financial HEENBENENEESE R
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since HBLUIRIEER R _%i‘é‘m °
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the B EREECEEERE
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. RR[Tg] -

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s BEAEERBSEIRNRIEZ

exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables EERRE—S SRR

are disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements. PR EF 16 3455 -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MFERRMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30.MEAMEIEE R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) wBE)
Liquidity risk i 2 1 & B
The Group regularly monitors its risk to a shortage AEBTHSEEETRERRA
of funds and considers the maturity of its financial b WERTREBERENEE
liabilities and financial assets, and projected cash LB BBMURIEEHEE T IR
flows from operations. BRE °
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities AREERBSESHARCEMNEEE
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the REEINRITRIIRE BIBER
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: [N
Group AEE

On demand
or less than

1year
1ER

HK$°000  HK$°000  HK$°000  HK$000
FERT FERT FER FER

31 December 2024 2024F12A31H
Trade payables BS5RNTE 4,576 - - 4,576
Financial liabilities included in ~ StAEMENTIER
other payables and accruals ESIEANTRIEE 13,242 - - 13,242
Lease liabilities HE8E 11,629 39,178 - 50,807
29,447 39,178 - 68,625
I N N
On demand
or less than 1to Over
1 year 5 years 5 years Total
BEXI
1ER 125F BB5E REt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET FET TET
31 December 2023 2023F 128318
Trade payables BI2ENRE 6,398 - - 6,398
Financial liabilities included in ~ StAEMENTER
other payables and accruals ESTERANERIEE 12,046 - - 12,046
Lease liabilities HEBE 12,181 44,429 6,378 62,988

30,625 44,429 6,378 81,432
I . S
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

30.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is determined based of the Group’s total debts,
as detailed below, divided by its total equity. Total
debts include amounts due to related companies and
amounts due to directors. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

30.MBEAMEIEB RN
R(E)
EAXEIR
AEBEATE O LBERRE
RAEBEEH @B R HETE
BHREE - WHESBR OB
B DRHEEBRBEESK
REE -

AEBEEHERRE  WRE
MERNRSBDRBEEE R
RISEUFLIRE - RIETHAE
BEARME AEBYREFEOR
RRUZRR  ORREEER
RETHR - XEBHRETE
TN ERIRRE - [REE
2024F R 2023F128310 I
FE -AEBEEEAZER
WRIEBWEDIREE -

AEBRAEAEBENRERE
K BHRDRAEBRER (5
SWH) BRUREGRER - BE
BEBENIBEAIRBURE
VEERE - RBSHRHER
BELRWH:

| 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
FiE&T FBTT

Amounts due to related JEN R A DRIB (M5t 20)
companies (note 20) 1,665 456
Amounts due to directors [ENESERIE 248 248
Total debts BB 1,913 704
Total equity EmiRAR 196,842 200,731
Gearing ratio BABEBHR 1.0% 0.4%
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F123318IFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

31. ANFMFHIRRR
RBEIF - ARALTZHH

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is RRTLERD N ¢
as follows:
| 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
FiE&T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FEREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EWEBATNRE 14,229 14,229
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Due from a subsidiary e S = NSE/I =] 153,671 82,614
Prepayments YEII I8 295 594
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 185 41,030
Total current assets MEEEMRE 154,151 124,238
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENaE
Accruals [E5tER 1,393 1,684
Due to a subsidiary BN —RBENBATRIE 151 151
Total current liabilities mENE SRR 1,544 1,835
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 152,607 122,403
Net assets SEE$E 166,836 136,632
EQUITY Ex
Issued capital BEIOTRA 6,000 6,000
Reserves (note) 5B 1% (f5t) 160,836 130,632
Total equity e iREn 166,836 136,632
|
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F1283318IFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

32

3. AN\ TBERRET =)

Note: BT :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AATRBEHRZLN N ¢
Retained
profits/
Share Other (accumulated
premium reserve loss) Total
R, .
BiniE Hithfid e (REtEER) fdst
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1818 - 14,229 6,397 20,626
Capitalisation issue BARIET (4,500) - - (4,500)
Issue of shares &7k 136,500 - - 136,500
Share issuance expenses RiNETE (13,371 - - (13,371)
Interim dividend (note 1) MRS (&) - - (10,000) (10,000)
Total comprehensive income TRZBRARE
for the year - - 1,377 1,377
At 31 December 2023 and [R2023E12H318R
1 January 2024 2024F1818 118,629 14,229 (2,226) 130,632
Final 2023 dividend (note 11) 2023 FRERR (Hratn) - - (7,200) (7,200)
Interim 2024 dividend (note 17) 2024 FPHRE (M5t 11) - - (10,020) (10,020)
Total comprehensive income TRZBRARE
for the year - - 47,424 47,424
At 31 December 2024 R2024E 128318 118,629 14,229 27,978 160,836
I I

AR DHEHMERBISRIFE2021F 25
HATNENBATZERBEAR
IRBMEHEIMBETCRDE

The Company’s other reserve represents the excess
of the equity of a subsidiary acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation in 2021 over the nominal value of the

Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. BECERR -
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 32. fLEMBIRR

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27
March 2025.

B RmERE 18202538275
ESsSERERETE -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
OFEMHEHRE

The following table summarises the results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years as
extracted/derived from the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 June 2023 and the published audited financial
statements of the Group:

TERBIAEBRRIABEBTE
LERB BEERBEB (WBRB/KER
N BHR2023F6 8308 2 BE
BRERAEBCBHE BRI HFR
®) :

For the year ended 31 December

BEN2ANBLER
B o3 2022 201 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET F&T FET F&T
Results %145
Revenue LIUN 207,227 220,885 240,678 245199 211,589
Profit before tax CREIyA 14,399 18,870 46,844 42120 46,696
Income tax expense PERAX (908)  (4,345) (7,413)  (9,071)  (5,528)
Profit attributable to owners  REATHEE A
of the parent i Gyasl 13,491 14,525 39,431 33,049 41,168
I N I N
As at 31 December
K12B318
B 202z 2022 2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFBT & FBT TET
Assets and Liabilities BERGRE
Total assets REE 277,707 288567 190,619 216216 122,416
Total liabilities Y= (80,865) (87,836) (119,121) (172,181) (67,422)
Net assets EEPE 196,842 200,731 71,498 44,035 54,994
Equity attributable to owner ~ EATHEB A
of the parent PR 196,842 200,731 71,498 44,035 54,994
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